
 
 
 

Development Control A 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

Date:      Wednesday, 3 November 2021 
Time:      6.00 pm 
Venue:   The Council Chamber - City Hall, College 
Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR 
 
Distribution: 
 
Councillors: Richard Eddy (Chair), John Geater, Paul Goggin, Fi Hance, Tom Hathway, Philippa Hulme, 
Steve Pearce, Ed Plowden and Andrew Varney 
 
Copies to: Zoe Willcox (Director: Development of Place), Gary Collins, Matthew Cockburn, Laurence 
Fallon, Stephen Peacock (Executive Director for Growth and Regeneration) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Issued by: Jeremy Livitt, Democratic Services 
City Hall, PO Box 3399, Bristol BS3 9FS 
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 
Date: Monday, 25 October 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

Development Control A Committee – Agenda 

 

 

Agenda 
 

1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information   

 (Pages 4 - 7) 

2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   

  

3. Declarations of Interest   

To note any interests relevant to the consideration of items on the agenda. 
Please note that any declarations of interest made at the meeting which are not 
on the register of interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for 
inclusion. 

 

 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 22nd 
September 2021  

 

To agree the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record. 
 

(Pages 8 - 13) 

 

5. Action Sheet   

The Committee is requested to note any outstanding actions listed on the rolling 
Action Sheet for Development Control A Committee. 
 

(Page 14) 

 

6. Appeals   

To note appeals lodged, imminent public inquiries and appeals awaiting decision. 
 

(Pages 15 - 24) 

 

7. Enforcement   

To note recent enforcement notices. 
 

(Page 25) 

8. Public Forum   

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item 
 
Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum.  The 
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at 
the back of this agenda.  Public Forum items should be emailed to 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines 
will apply in relation to this meeting:- 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 

Development Control A Committee – Agenda 

 

 

Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the 
meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in 
this office at the latest by 5pm on Thursday 28th October 2021. 
 
Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the 
working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means that your 
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12 Noon on Tuesday 
2nd November 2021. 
 
Members of the public who wish to present their public forum statement, 
question or petition at the zoom meeting must register their interest by giving at 
least two clear working days’ notice prior to the meeting by 2pm on Monday 1st 
November 2021. 
 
PLEASE NOTE THAT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NEW STANDING ORDERS 
AGREED BY BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL, YOU MUST SUBMIT EITHER A STATEMENT, 
PETITION OR QUESTION TO ACCOMPANY YOUR REGISTER TO SPEAK. 
 
In accordance with previous practice adopted for people wishing to speak at 
Development Control Committees, please note that you may only be allowed 1 
minute subject to the number of requests received for the meeting. 
 

9. Planning and Development   

To consider the following applications 
 

(Page 26) 

 

a) Planning Application Number 19/03940/F - 345 Bath Road (Pages 27 - 88) 
 

10. Date of Next Meeting   

The next meeting is scheduled for 2pm on Wednesday 15th December 2021 in the 
Council Chamber, City Hall, College Green, Bristol. 
 

 

 
 
 



www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Public Information Sheet 
 

Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 

 
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk. 
 

Changes to how we hold public meetings 

 
Following changes to government rules, public meetings including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory 
meetings (where planning and licensing decisions are made) and scrutiny will now be held at City Hall. 
 

COVID-19 Precautions at City Hall (from July 2021) 

 
When attending a meeting at City Hall, COVID-19 precautions will be taken, and where possible we 
will:  

 Have clear signage inviting you to check in to the venue using the NHS COVID-19 app or record 
your contact details for track and trace purposes. 

 Provide public access that enables social distancing of one metre to be maintained  
 Promote and encourage wearing of face coverings when walking to and from the meeting 
 Promote good hand hygiene: washing and disinfecting hands frequently 
 Maintain an enhanced cleaning regime and continue with good ventilation 

 

COVID-19 Safety Measures for Attendance at Council Meetings (from July 2021) 

 
To manage the risk of catching or passing on COVID-19, it is strongly recommended that any person 
age 16 or over attending a council meeting should follow the above guidance but also include the 
following:  
 

 Show certification of a negative NHS COVID-19 lateral flow (rapid) test result:  taken in the 48 
hours prior to attending. This can be demonstrated via a text message or email from NHS Test 
and Trace.   

 An NHS COVID-19 Pass which confirms double COVID-19 vaccination received at least 2 weeks 
prior to attending the event via the NHS App. A vaccination card is not sufficient.  

 Proof of COVID-19 status through demonstrating natural immunity (a positive NHS PCR test in 
the last 180 days) via their NHS COVID-19 pass on the NHS App.    

 Visitors from outside the UK will need to provide proof of a negative lateral flow (rapid) test 
taken 48 hours prior to attendance, demonstrated via a text message or email.   

Reception staff may ask to see this on the day of the meeting. 
 
No one should attend a Bristol City Council event or venue if they:  

 are required to self-isolate from another country 

 are suffering from symptoms of COVID-19   

 have tested positive for COVID-19 and are requested to self–isolate  

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Members of the press and public who wish to attend City Hall are advised that you may be asked to 
watch the meeting on a screen in another room due to the maximum occupancy of the venue. 
 

Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment  

Other o check with and  
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in 
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer.  Please give as much notice as 
possible.  We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular 
meeting. 
 
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment.  If you 
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer. 
 

Public Forum 

 
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most 
meetings.  Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published 
on the Council’s website before the meeting.  Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.   
 

The following requirements apply: 

 The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is 
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.  

 The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.   

 
Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer 
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available 
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine 
articles that may be attached to statements. 
 
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and 
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within 
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public via publication on 
the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act 
requests in the future. 
 
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information.  However, because of time constraints we 
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information 
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain.  Other committee papers may be placed on the 
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet. 
 

  

Page 5

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

During the meeting: 

 Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions 
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.  

 There will be no debate on statements or petitions. 

 The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that 
your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will 
have the greatest impact. 

 Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as 
short as one minute. 

 If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to 
speak on the groups behalf. 

 If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken 
your statement will be noted by Members. 

 Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be 
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all 
attending.   

 As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own 
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser. 

 
For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution  

 

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings  

 
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full 
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except 
where there are confidential or exempt items).  If you ask a question or make a representation, then 
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this.  If you do not wish to 
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff.  However, the Openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take 
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting  (Oral commentary is 
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore 
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control. 
 
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-
website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services  

Page 6

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
http://www.bristol.public-i.tv/site/
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services


Development Control Committee Debate and Decision Process 

Stage 3:  
Member Questions and 
Clarifications of the 
Proposal. 
Officer Responses 

Stage 4:  
Member Debate 

1
 A Motion must be Seconded in order to be formally 

accepted. If a Motion is not Seconded, the debate 

continues 

Stage 1:  
Public Forum 
Statements 

Stage 2:  
Officer Report & 
Recommendation 

2 
An Amendment can occur on any formally approved Motion (ie. one that has been Seconded) 

prior to Voting. An Amendment must itself be Seconded to be valid and cannot have the effect 

of negating the original Motion. If Vote carried at Stage7, then this becomes the Motion which 

is voted on at Stage 8  

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Stage 5:  
CHAIR will either move a MOTION in accordance with the 
Recommendation (to test if this is what Committee want to 
do) or seek another Member of the Committee to do this.  
 
If SECONDED1 go to stages 6 to 8.  
 
If MOTION to APPROVE is not seconded or carried the CHAIR 
will move a MOTION to DEFER a decision (allowing more time 
for Members to propose grounds for refusal if needed) and 
request that Officers bring back a report to the next meeting 
of the Committee with detailed advice on these grounds, 
supporting Members to make a final decision. 
 
If the Chair’s MOTION is not seconded or not carried  
the Chair will seek an alternative MOTION  
from the Committee 
 

Stage 6:  
Any 
AMENDMENT 
Moved & 
Seconded2 

Stage 7:  
VOTE on 
successful 
AMENDMENT  
(if required) 

Stage 8:  
VOTE on 
MOTION  
(either original 
Motion or as 
amended) 

IF CARRIED = DECISION 

IF LOST = NO DECISION & 

go back to Stage 5 

 

MAKING THE DECISION 

OFFICER PRESENTATION MEMBER QUESTIONS AND DEBATE 

P
age 7



 

 
 
 

Bristol City Council 
Minutes of the Development Control A 

Committee 

 

 
22 September 2021 at 2.00 pm 

 
 
 

Members Present:- 
Councillors: Richard Eddy (Chair), John Geater, Paul Goggin, Fi Hance, Tom Hathway, Philippa Hulme, 
Steve Pearce, Ed Plowden and Andrew Varney 
 
Officers in Attendance:- 
Gary Collins 
 
 

1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 
 
Cllr Richard Eddy welcomed everyone to the meeting and issued the safety information.  
 

2 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 
 
Cllr Steve Pearce notified the committee that he may have to leave early for a hospital appointment. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest 
 
None received.  
 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
RESOLVED The minutes of the previous meeting 11th August 2021 were agreed as a correct record.  
 

5 Appeals 
 
Officers drew attention to the following items:  
Item 10 and 11 are public enquiries still awaiting Secretary of State decision which is expected by the end 
of the year.  
Item 12 had a public enquiry at the end of August.  
Item 13 appeal against refusal on flooding, there is no enquiry date set as yet.  

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Item 48 and 49 the appeals against non-determination were dismissed, but costs awarded against the 
Council. Cost to be determined.  
 
There was a comment on the current high volume of appeals. There can be more appeals in a difficult 
economic climate and there have been many appeals on telecommunications applications lately.  
 

6 Enforcement 
 
There were no enforcement notices on the agenda. The Council tries to resolve issues without formal 
notices but will serve notices if this approach does not work and harm is still being caused. There is a 
backlog of cases and notices will appear at committee in due course. 
 

7 Public Forum 
 
Members of the Committee received Public Forum Statements in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Statements were heard before the application they related to and were taken fully into consideration 
by the Committee prior to reaching a decision. 
 

8 Planning and Development 
 
The Committee considered the following applications. 
 

9 21/01999/F - Former Car Park, College Road, Clifton 
 
Officers presented the report and highlighted the following points: 
 
1. Members flagged some errors  of the report which are below the usual quality standard for which 
officers apologised. These issues were addressed in the amendment sheet.  
2. The application has been revised from 65 to 62 dwellings in 3 blocks. The application received 350 
objections, mainly related to block A. This block has been amended, reduced in size and set back with less 
massing. 
3. Distance from other buildings is not a significant impact. 
4. Officers recommend approval, subject to legal agreement on 20% affordable housing on site.  
 
Questions for clarification: 
 
5. The buildings use air source heat pumps, this meets policy requirements. Sustainability is 
important, in terms of density, amenity space and parking. It is a matter for the committee to weigh up 
the material issues. There are 121 units, 45 parking spaces and green spaces in reasonable distance.  
6. Zoo finances are not a material consideration for the committee.  

Page 9



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

7. The visual amenity of the application is largely subjective. The scale of the application alone is not 
a reason for refusal. Improvements from the original plan had been made. The scheme is compliant in 
terms of density. 
8. The site is brownfield and no longer appropriate for its original use. Members are asked to weigh 
the potential benefits against the potential harm of the scheme. The nearest play area is near to  the 
suspension bridge.  
9. The development should be ambitious in terms of energy use in line with sustainable practice, 
however Zero Carbon is an aspiration. The applicant has been assessed on sustainability measures. 
Members could refuse the application over sustainability concerns if they are considered  it outweighs 
other aspects.  
10. A decision should be made on the plan as it stands rather than deferring it, there is the possibility 
of appeal if no decision is made.  
11. The committee has some interest in biodiversity and notes the issue is lacking in the report. A 
condition on this will be attached. It is worth noting that biodiversity net gain requirement is not yet 
included in planning law.  
 
Debate Notes: 
 
12. Bristolians love the zoo, and the committee should look to the future. The application is a bold 
decision but members should consider it on its own merits. The community has been consulted and the 
statement by Francis Greenacre is reassuring. Brownfield sites should be the priority location for 
development and a former car park is a prime target. The density of the development is not too high, and 
nature of the buildings is satisfactory. The committee should have faith that these properties will be 
bought because they will meet the needs of potential buyers.  
13. The committee thanked members of the public for their engagement. This part of college road is 
unattractive at present, and the scheme will enhance it. The scale of the proposed buildings is suitable, 
and the biggest trees will remain. The proposed buildings are an appropriate distance from the old 
buildings. The Clifton Downs are nearby and families are likely to inhabit the terraced houses rather than 
the flats.  
14. The buildings should either reflect the existing architecture of the area or add interest and 
diversity to the area.  
15. Clifton is a beautiful area and it would be good for people on lower incomes to be able to enjoy it.  
The committee should trust the zoo to consider biodiversity. The site is brownfield and building more 
housing should be a goal for all wards.   
16. The development is in a good location, but concerns remain over design.  
17. The future needs to be zero carbon and this development could be more ambitious in this regard. 
Block A is not satisfactory.  
 
DECISION was moved by Councillor Eddy and seconded by Councillor Goggin. 
 
RESOLVED (5 for / 3 against / 1 abstain) application approved as per officer recommendations. 
 

Page 10



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

1
0 

19/06107/F - Paynes Shipyard & Vauxhall House, Coronation Road 

 
Officers presented the report and highlighted the following points: 
 
1. The application is within a primary industrial area. This is also a growth area but there is no 
interest in commercial use at this location.  
2. The site includes 154 flats in 4 blocks. The proposed housing mix is as follows: four blocks of 1 and 
2 bed flats. There will be 62 one bed flats and 92 two bed flats. There are no plans for family units. 20 
percent is to be affordable housing and 3 units will be wheelchair accessible. A further 6 units could be 
adapted for wheelchair accessibility. However, 41% of properties are single aspect, which is concerning.  
3. 25 responses were received in public consultation and the majority of objections pertained to 
traffic, parking and height.  
4. There will be 56 parking spaces on the site, 20% of these including electric charge points. Space 
will be provided for 180 cycles. 9 parking spaces will be lost from Coronation Road.  
5.  Significant negotiation and amendment has been undertaken in relation to highway safety and 
servicing matters, with the scheme as presented being supported by BCC Transport Officers. 
6. The nearest residential buildings are opposite on Coronation Rd and are between 19-to-21-metres  
away, which is acceptable.  
7. Whilst there are identifiable shortfalls, the standard of the accommodation is generally good , and 
the design  picks up on key themes and features ofexisting historic buildings nearby within the 
Conservation Area .  
 
 
Questions for clarification: 
 
8. The inclusion of electric storage heaters creates sustainability concerns. The design contains heat 
pumps, solar PV, also electric panel heating. It would not be able to connect to the council district heat 
network for heat without significant and distruptive retrofit works.  
 
Debate notes: 
 
9. The proposal builds on a brownfield site and will help meet the Bristol’s housing needs. 
10. Electric panel heating is an issue but there has not been any development in the area for some 
time, so this development is welcome.  
11. The development is an opportunity to open the riverbank with new views and aspects. Concerns 
about heating remain, but the benefits of the scheme outweigh those concerns.  
12. The lack of a good mix of housing is also a concern.  
13. There is a lack of parking on site which could cause pressure for the area and appears to be 
contingent on a Resident’s Parking Scheme that may not happen.  
14. A member was reassured by the statement of support from the relevant ward member. 
 
DECISION was moved by Councillor Eddy and seconded by Councillor Hulme 

Page 11



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

 
RESOLVED (8 for / 0 against / 1 abstain) application approved as per officer recommendations. 
 

1
1 

21/00531/P - Hengrove Leisure Park, Hengrove Way 

 
Officers presented the report and highlighted the following points: 
 
1. This is an outline application for up to 350 Class C3 dwellings, up to 1650sqm of flexible class E 
space, including 150sqm Sui Generis (to cover hot food takeaway). Class E is highly permissive.  
2. This application seeks approval for access points to the site. Those will be set today for a future 
reserved matters application. The officer recommendation is to grant subject to legal agreement.  
3. Loss of leisure use is a concern. However, officers and members cannot refuse an application 
based on how we would want something to be. The commercial reality is that this site is not sustainable 
for the existing leisureuses, and the assessment is whether this an acceptable site for residential 
development. 
 
Questions for clarification: 
4. There is a major play area at Hengrove which is a significant asset. Car parking is important for 
accessibility to this park. An intensive housing scheme could reduce the amenity of the park as users 
cannot get close enough to it. This would be relevant for a future scheme.   
5. Members expressed concern about the input they are permitted to have on this application given 
the objections regarding leisure amenity and transport. The nature of outline applications makes them 
difficult as a future application cannot be predicted. Members are asked to agree the description of the 
site as a residential led development with up to 350 dwellings. This does mean losing the existing leisure 
use. The mix of uses being proposed  cannot be reviewed later.   
6. It was confirmed the development is proposed  to be 30% affordable. 
7. The leisure buildings are around 20 years old and cannot be repurposed. The development was 
designed around older principles such as heavy car use, which is no longer relevant.  
 
Debate notes: 
8. The loss of leisure facilities is regrettable, but this is market forces in action. The restaurants are 
viable, but the cinema and bingo hall are operating at loss.  
9. Members raised concerns about the loose definition of Class E space and would prefer a tighter 
definition and/or appropriate caveats.  
 
RE move that approval with additional E Class  
 
DECISION was moved by Councillor Richard Eddy and seconded by Councillor Plowden. 
 
RESOLVED (8 for / 0 against / 1 abstain) approve application subject to suitable conditions to be drafted 
by officers. 
 

Page 12



 

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk 

 

 

1
2 

Date of Next Meeting 

 
The date of the next Development Control A committee is 3 November 2021. 
 
 
 
 
Meeting ended at 4.30 pm 
 
CHAIR  __________________ 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
 

 
Audit Committee Action Sheet – Development Control Committee A 

 
Date of 
Meeting 

Item/report Action  Responsible 
officer(s)/Councillor 

 

Action taken / progress 

30/06/21 13(a) - Planning 
Application Number 
20/05811/F - Plot 3, 
Dalby Avenue and 
Whitehouse Lane 
Bristol 

When the application was 
approved, the Committee also 
resolved to make a request to the 
appropriate Cabinet member to 
fast track the proposal for an RPZ 
for Windmill Hill. 

Gary Collins Gary to verbally update Cttee on 3rd 
November on progress to date 

11/08/21 9 (c) Planning 
Application Number 
21/00288/F - Ferro 
Whapping Wharf, 
Bristol 

There was concern about setting a 
precedent and the need for a 
policy concerning boathouses. Cllr 
Eddy volunteered to write to the 
Harbourside Forum on behalf of 
the committee to take this 
forward. 

Cllr Richard 
Eddy/Gary Collins and 
Ken Reid to check as 
required 

Cllr Eddy wrote to co-chairman Matthew 
Tanner on 16th September 2021, copying in 
all elected Members of the committee and 
Gary Collins. 

     

 
 

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 5



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: DEVELOPMENT OF PLACE

LIST OF CURRENT APPEALS

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE A

3rd November 2021

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Householder appeal

Date lodged

Text0:1 St George 
Troopers Hill

42 Nicholas Lane Bristol BS5 8TL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

A single storey extension is proposed to the rear of the 
property with a roof terrace accessed from the rear bedroom.

12/10/2020

Text0:2 Hillfields 95 Gorse Hill Bristol BS16 4PL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Replacement of an existing garage with annexe for ancillary 
accommodation.

10/05/2021

Text0:3 Stoke Bishop 22 Old Sneed Avenue Bristol BS9 1SE 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Alterations and extensions to the property on the north (rear), 
west and south (road) elevations to provide additional 
residential accommodation.

18/05/2021

Text0:4 Brislington West 40 Runswick Road Bristol BS4 3HY 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Single storey rear extension and loft conversion. 14/06/2021

Text0:5 Windmill Hill 10 New Walls Bristol BS4 3TA 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erect a porch to the front elevation. 03/08/2021

Text0:6 St George 
Troopers Hill

77 Dundridge Lane Bristol BS5 8SN 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of garden fence over one metre in height, adjoining 
a highway.

03/08/2021

Page 1 of 1022 October 2021 Page 15

Agenda Item 6



Text0:7 Bedminster 5 Prospect Terrace Bristol BS3 3BQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Replacement of existing roof with a mansard style roof, to 
provide a new bedroom and bathroom at second floor.

11/08/2021

Text0:8 Horfield 3 Tilling Road Bristol BS10 5AQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Part demolition and enlargement of original porch to provide 
WC, utility and entrance hallway.

18/10/2021

Text0:9 Hartcliffe & 
Withywood

15 Elmtree Drive Bristol BS13 8LY 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

First floor side extension. 20/10/2021

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Informal hearing

Date of hearing

Text0:10 Lawrence Hill 1 Milsom Street Bristol BS5 0SS 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for the erection of rear extension 
without planning permission.

18/01/2022

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Public inquiry

Date of inquiry

Text0:11 Lawrence Hill Land And Buildings On The South Side Of Silverthorne Lane 
Bristol BS2 0QD 

Committee

Phased development of the following: site wide remediation, 
including demolition; (Plot 1) outline planning permission with 
all matters reserved aside from access for up to 23,543m2 
GIA of floor space to include offices (B1a), research and 
development (B1b), non-residential institution (D1) and up to 
350m2 GIA floor space for cafe (A3); (Plots 2 and 3) erection 
of buildings (full details) to provide 371 dwelling houses (C3), 
offices (B1a), restaurants and cafes (A3); (Plot 4), 
redevelopment of 'Erecting Sheds 1A and 1B' (full details) to 
provide offices (B1a); (Plot 5) erection of buildings and 
redevelopment of 'The Boiler Shop' (full details) to provide a 
1,600 pupil secondary school (D1); (Plot 6) erection of 
buildings (full details) to provide 693 student bed spaces (Sui 
generis); infrastructure, including a new canal side walkway 
and associated works.

11/05/2021

Page 2 of 1022 October 2021 Page 16



Text0:12 Lawrence Hill Land And Buildings On The South Side Of Silverthorne Lane 
Bristol BS2 0QD 

Committee

Redevelopment of the site for: (Plot 1) Removal of the Shed 
4 western gable wall; (Plot 2) Removal of Shed 4 (excluding 
wall to canal), insertion of opening into boundary wall and 
lowering/removal of material; (Plot 3) Removal of Shed 3, 
removal of Sheds 2a-c; (Plot 4) Insertion of pedestrian 
access opening into the northern boundary wall of shed 1b, 
alterations to the South wall of Shed 1b/north wall of Shed 2b, 
Restoration/rebuild of Shed 1a; (Plot 5) Reduction in height of 
the walls attached to the North Gateway, removal of western 
Hammer Forge Wall, reduction of Northern Hammer Forge 
Wall, demolition and rebuild of Eastern Hammer Forge wall.  
Works to the Boiler Shop, including new openings in the 
Western gable end, replacement of asbestos cement roof, 
removal of post-war cladding and glazing between piers, 
internal works including new floor level; (Plots 2-5) Potential 
stabilisation to the early 19th century Feeder Canal rubble 
stone wall.

11/05/2021

Text0:13 Bedminster Police Dog & Horse Training Centre Clanage Road Bristol 
BS3 2JY 

Committee

Proposed change of use from training centre (Use Class D1) 
to touring caravan site (Use Class D2), consisting of 62 
pitches and associated buildings and works.

20/07/2021

Text0:14 Lawrence Hill 10 Feeder Road Bristol BS2 0SB 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of existing buildings and development of 4 
buildings - a 5 storey building comprising flexible commercial 
floorspace (Use B1 and B8) and a part 7, part 8 and part 14 
storey building interlinked to provide a communal area at 
ground floor level and student bedspaces (sui generis) at the 
upper levels, incubator space (B1 use class) at ground floor 
level, shared social and study spaces, roof terrace and 
associated car parking (for the commercial use), cycle 
parking.

11/01/2022

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Written representation

Date lodged

Text0:15 Henbury & Brentry The Lodge Carriage Drive Bristol BS10 6TE 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Sycamore Tree T3 - Crown reduce canopy by a maximum of 
 30%. TPO 1148

07/09/2020

Page 3 of 1022 October 2021 Page 17



Text0:16 Clifton 31 West Mall Bristol BS8 4BG 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application for a Certificate of Existing Use/Development - 
 use of upper floors as self contained maisonette.

02/11/2020

Text0:17 Lockleaze 39 Stothard Road Bristol BS7 9XL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

x2 two storey 2 bedroom, 3 person semi-detached dwellings 
to front of site and x2 single storey 2 bedroom, 3 person 
dwellings to rear of site as well as access and x6 car parking 
spaces, bin and cycle storage.

10/05/2021

Text0:18 Filwood 10 Melvin Square Bristol BS4 1LZ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Part demolition of existing building and erection of 6no. 
apartments (use class C3) with secure cycle parking and 
refuse/recycling store.

21/05/2021

Text0:19 Clifton Down Garden Flat 15 Aberdeen Road Bristol BS6 6HT 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed single storey rear extension and garden 
landscaping.

08/06/2021

Text0:20 Clifton Down Garden Flat 15 Aberdeen Road Bristol BS6 6HT 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed single storey rear extension, garden landscaping 
and minor structural works.

08/06/2021

Text0:21 Knowle 48 Tavistock Road Bristol BS4 1DN 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed two bedroom dwelling. 14/06/2021

Text0:22 Hotwells & 
Harbourside

63 Park Street City Centre Bristol BS1 5NU

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Retention of storage container, at the rear of the building. 15/06/2021

Text0:23 Hotwells & 
Harbourside

63 Park Street City Centre Bristol BS1 5NU 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for the installation of shipping 
container.

15/06/2021

Page 4 of 1022 October 2021 Page 18



Text0:24 Ashley 58 Banner Road Bristol BS6 5LZ 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice for the use of basement (formation) of 
separate flat without planning permission.

23/06/2021

Text0:25 Lockleaze Telecommunication Mast Opposite 60 Lockleaze Road 
Bristol BS7 9RU 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed telecommunications installation: Proposed 15m 
Phase 8 Monopole C/W wraparound Cabinet at base and 
associated ancillary works.

22/07/2021

Text0:26 Southville Telecomunications Mast Corner Of Victoria Grove And 
Princess Street Bedminster Bristol BS3 4AG 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed 15m Phase 8 Monopole C/W, wrapround Cabinet 
at base and associated ancillary works.

22/07/2021

Text0:27 Lawrence Hill Telecoms Equipment Easton Way At Junction With Stapleton 
Road Easton Bristol BS5 0QA 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed: Development by or on behalf of an electronic 
communications code operator -Proposed 15m Phase 8 
Monopole C/W wraparound Cabinet at base and associated 
ancillary works.

22/07/2021

Text0:28 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

Grange Court Grange Court Road Bristol BS9 4DW 

Committee

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for 
proposed two storey upward extension to comprise 14 new 
dwellings on detached block of flats.

22/07/2021

Text0:29 Ashley 123 Chesterfield Road Bristol BS6 5DU 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Construction of a detached single storey 1 bedroom dwelling 
within site curtilage.

13/08/2021

Text0:30 Hartcliffe & 
Withywood

26 Murford Avenue Bristol BS13 9JY 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

2 no. 2-bedroom dwellings. 13/08/2021

Page 5 of 1022 October 2021 Page 19



Text0:31 Bedminster Land Adjacent To 52 Brighton Crescent Bristol BS3 3PR

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of a detached single dwelling and associated works 
(Re-submission of application 20/00855/F).

17/08/2021

Text0:32 Lockleaze Ikea Ltd Eastgate Road Bristol BS5 6XX 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

New and replacement elevational signage, including new 
internally illuminated IKEA wordmark NE elevation, 
replacement externally illuminated IKEA wordmark signs, 
unlit block advertisement banner and car park/pedestrian 
entrance signage.

23/08/2021

Text0:33 Hillfields 269 Lodge Causeway Bristol BS16 3RA 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Prior notification for conversion of rear part of retail (Use 
Class A1) to 1no. one bed dwelling (Use Class C3) under 
Schedule 2, Part 3, Class M of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 
2015 (as amended).

26/08/2021

Text0:34 Stoke Bishop 17 Haytor Park Bristol BS9 2LR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of existing dwelling and replacement with one and 
half storey, 4 bedroom dwelling.

26/08/2021

Text0:35 Frome Vale 234 Frenchay Park Road Bristol BS16 1LD 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Attached side extension to form a 2-bedroom, self-contained 
house with associated access and parking.

27/08/2021

Text0:36 St George Central 161 Whiteway Road Bristol BS5 7RR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed two storey side extension to create new dwelling. 14/09/2021

Text0:37 Southmead 235 Ullswater Road Bristol BS10 6EF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Construction of a detached dwelling. 14/09/2021

Page 6 of 1022 October 2021 Page 20



Text0:38 Lawrence Hill Land To The Rear Of  232-234 Stapleton Road Easton 
Bristol BS5 0NT 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of single storey Victorian store building to the rear 
and replacement with 2 storey block of flats containing  3 no. 
flats, shop storage and including refuse, recycling and cycle 
storage for both shops and flats.

14/09/2021

Text0:39 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

29 Westover Road Bristol BS9 3LY 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of a two storey, 2no. bedroom semi-detached single 
dwelling.

14/09/2021

Text0:40 Central Tower House Fairfax Street Bristol BS1 3BN 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

High level signage. 28/09/2021

Text0:41 Clifton 1 The Mall Bristol BS8 4DP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Convert the existing mono-pitched roof to a flat roof terrace 
providing outdoor amenity space and replacement of glazing 
windows and shopfront with double glazed timber units.

29/09/2021

Text0:42 Stoke Bishop 4 Ivywell Road Bristol BS9 1NX 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Window replacement, new lower ground floor light well and 
alterations to lower floor ground rooms.

06/10/2021

Text0:43 Stoke Bishop 4 Ivywell Road Bristol BS9 1NX 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Window replacement, new lower ground floor light well and 
alterations to lower floor ground rooms.

06/10/2021

Text0:44 Horfield 1 Bishopthorpe Road Bristol BS10 5AA 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of 1 no. (3 bedroom 5 bedspace) dwelling (Use 
Class C3) with associated car parking, private amenity space 
with space for cycle and refuse storage.

18/10/2021

Page 7 of 1022 October 2021 Page 21



Text0:45 Redland 127 Redland Road Bristol BS6 6XX 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Conversion of an existing garage with first-floor 
accommodation above to create a one-person flat.

18/10/2021

Text0:46 Horfield 38 Toronto Road Bristol BS7 0JP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

The change of use of a 6-bedroom house in multiple 
occupation (C4) to a 7-bedroom house in multiple occupation 
(sui generis use class).

19/10/2021

Text0:47 Avonmouth & 
Lawrence Weston

Flat 6 Selsdon House 1 Smyths Close Bristol BS11 9FS 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of terrace with balustrade above existing flat roof. 20/10/2021

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

List of appeal decisions

Decision and 
date decided

Text0:48 Eastville 15 Bridge Street Eastville Bristol BS5 6LN 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for the erection of a two storey 
rear extension with door access onto the roof from first floor 
level to rear without planning permission.

Appeal dismissed

08/10/2021

Text0:49 Brislington West 57 West Town Lane Brislington Bristol BS4 5DD

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

New single storey dwelling. (Self Build).

Appeal dismissed

13/09/2021

Text0:50 Stoke Bishop 41 Stoke Hill Bristol BS9 1LQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Ash - Fell. TPO 438.

Appeal allowed

15/09/2021

Text0:51 Avonmouth & 
Lawrence Weston

Beaumont Court Avonmouth Road Bristol BS11 9FL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Creation of additional apartments at third-floor.

Appeal dismissed

14/10/2021

Page 8 of 1022 October 2021 Page 22



Text0:52 St George 
Troopers Hill

Trooper Court 303 Crews Hole Road Bristol BS5 8BQ 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement Notice Appeal for installation of timber 
enclosure without planning permission.

Appeal dismissed

20/09/2021

Text0:53 Hillfields 113 Thicket Avenue Bristol BS16 4EQ 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for the erection of two canopy 
structures to the front of the property.

Appeal dismissed

22/09/2021

Text0:54 Henbury & Brentry Henbury Lodge  Station Road Henbury Bristol BS10 7QQ

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed replacement of existing sheds, with an outbuilding 
to accommodate garden room and disable WC.

Appeal dismissed

22/09/2021

Text0:55 Henbury & Brentry Henbury Lodge  Station Road Henbury Bristol BS10 7QQ

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed replacement of the existing sheds with an 
outbuilding to accommodate garden room and disable WC.

Appeal dismissed

22/09/2021

Text0:56 Frome Vale 128 Downend Road Fishponds Bristol BS16 5BG 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Application for prior approval of a proposed new 
dwellinghouse on terraced buildings in commercial or mixed 
use.

Appeal dismissed

21/09/2021

Text0:57 Horfield Land To Rear Of 382 - 386 Southmead Road Bristol BS10 
5LP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Retrospective change of use of land at the rear of houses 
382, 384 and 386 Southmead Road to provide parking 
spaces for 7no. cars.

Appeal dismissed

30/09/2021

Text0:58 Hengrove & 
Whitchurch Park

21 New Fosseway Road Bristol BS14 9LW 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Two storey side and single storey rear extension.

Appeal allowed

15/10/2021

Text0:59 Lockleaze 195 Wordsworth Road Bristol BS7 0EF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Change of use from dwelling house (C3a) to a small house in 
multiple occupation (C4).

Appeal allowed

15/10/2021

Page 9 of 1022 October 2021 Page 23



Text0:60 Avonmouth & 
Lawrence Weston

7 Fairford Road Bristol BS11 9QZ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Single storey rear extension and two-storey side extension.

Appeal dismissed

04/10/2021

Text0:61 Horfield 1 Court Close Bristol BS7 0XH 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of 2m tall solid panel timber fence and gate along a 
portion of property boundary.

Appeal dismissed

21/10/2021

Page 10 of 1022 October 2021 Page 24



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: DEVELOPMENT OF PLACE

LIST OF ENFORCEMENT NOTICES SERVED

Item Ward Address, description and enforcement type Date issued

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE A

3rd November 2021

Eastville Land To Rear Of 40 Park Road Stapleton Bristol 
BS16 1AT 

06/10/2021

Erection of platform structure over land

Enforcement notice

1

22 October 2021

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



E:\Bristol\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\0\8\AI00025800\$h4y1d4l0.docx  25/10/2021  11:41 

 

Development Control Committee A 
3 November 2021 

Report of the Director: Development of Place 

 
Index 
 
Planning Applications 
 
Item Ward Officer 

Recommendation 
Application No/Address/Description 
 

    
1 Brislington 

West 
Grant subject to 
Legal Agreement 

19/03940/F - 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW    
Construction of 109 no. apartments, including 
social rented and shared ownership tenure, and 
commercial/retail floor space contained in 
buildings ranging between 4 to 6 storeys, 
associated access, car and cycle parking, refuse 
& recycling storage, groundworks and 
landscaping and all other associated works. 
(Major Application). 
 

    

 
index 
v5.0514 

Page 26

Agenda Item 9



22/10/21  16:28   Committee report 

 

Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
 

 
ITEM NO.  1 
 

 
WARD: Brislington West   
 
SITE ADDRESS: 

 
345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

 
APPLICATION NO: 

 
19/03940/F 
 

 
Full Planning 

DETERMINATION 
DEADLINE: 

14 May 2021 
 

Construction of 109 no. apartments, including social rented and shared ownership tenure, and 
commercial/retail floor space contained in buildings ranging between 4 to 6 storeys, associated 
access, car and cycle parking, refuse & recycling storage, groundworks and landscaping and all 
other associated works. (Major Application). 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

 
GRANT subject to Planning Agreement 

 
AGENT: 

 
Avison Young 
St Catherine's Court 
Berkeley Place 
Bristol 
BS8 1BQ 
 

 
APPLICANT: 

 
Galliford Try  Partnerships 
 
 

The following plan is for illustrative purposes only, and cannot be guaranteed to be up to date. 
 
LOCATION PLAN: 

  
DO NOT SCALE 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9a



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

    
 
SUMMARY 
 
The application relates to an allocated site in the Local Plan, an allocation which also encompasses 
the Paintworks development.  It is allocated for housing and businesses in the adopted local plan.  
The scheme before members comprises 109 dwellings arranged around a perimeter block, with 
vehicular access from Bath Road and basement parking.  Protected trees around the site are 
proposed to be retained, and the scheme would benefit from a central courtyard for the use of 
residents.  
 
A number of objections have been raised during public consultation, with most comments having been 
submitted from residents of the neighbouring Paintworks development, including an objection from the 
developer of this site, Verve properties.  
 
A significant change since the submission of this application is the inclusion within the scheme of a 
bus lay-by.  This allows the existing bus stop outside the site to be re-provided within a dedicated lay-
by and would avoid queues on Bath Road forming behind busses waiting at the bus stop. 
 
Another change is the further refinement to the design of the scheme, as well as the provision of a 
landscaping scheme, to ensure the design quality of the elevations and public realm would be 
delivered.   
 
The application is referred to committee by Councillor Jos Clark, who has called it in for the following 
reasons:  
Overdevelopment of site, lack of local amenity, lack of adequate local parking, height of proposed 
buildings. 
15.03.21 
 
The application has been under assessment by officers for a significant period of time, and since 
submission has been revised formally three times, with a number of additional informal iterations 
having been submitted for comments and discussion during the course of the assessment.  Officers 
have provided a great deal of advice and it is now felt that the applicant has adequately responded to 
concerns that have been raised.  It is acknowledged that the scheme has a relatively high density, 
although it has a lower density than other developments in the area and has been reduced during the 
course of the application.  The sustainable location on a number of bus routes, proximity to Temple 
Meads Station, as well as the overall design quality that would be delivered are considered to justify 
the density in this instance.  
 
Affordable Housing within social rented and shared ownership tenure will be included, with the 
proportion discussed later in this report.  
  
The application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions and s.106 agreement. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application relates to a 0.5Ha site which is allocated within the Local Plan (BSA 1202 - described 
below).  The site is located to the south of the Paintworks development, between the Majestic Wines 
site and Central Road access to Paintworks.  The site is opposite Arnos Vale Cemetery.  Currently on 
site is a level hardstanding which until recently had been used as a construction compound and prior 
to that as open storage.  More recently, the site had been used unlawfully for the siting of a traveller 
encampment, (subject of an enforcement investigation described below), although this use has now 
ceased.  The only vehicular access to the site is from Bath Road.  The levels at Bath Road drop down 
towards the north of the site, and there is a retaining wall approximately 9m tall at the southern edge 
of the site, on the Bath Road frontage. 

Page 28



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
There are mature trees on the southern and western boundaries of the site, and these are protected 
by TPO.  
 
There is an existing bus stop outside the site and the vehicular access gives directly onto Bath Road 
(A4) which is a high frequency bus route as well as a major key route into the City.  This is a 
safeguarded transport route in the Local Plan (DM24). 
 
The nearest heritage assets to the site are the Arnos Vale conservation area, the boundaries for 
which are located to the south and east of the site.  Arnos Vale Cemetery is designated a Registered 
Historic Park and Garden, and this is across from the site to the south where the land rises steeply.  
There are a number of listed buildings, monuments and tombs within Arnos Vale Cemetery, notably 
the front gates which are Grade II* listed entrance lodges.  
 
Adjacent to the site to the north and between the application site and the River Avon is Paintworks- a 
mixed use development, with building heights ranging between 2 and 10 storeys. 
  
The site is within Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone, which seeks to attract growth and regeneration 
through a mix of uses. The site is also allocated (along with the neighbouring Paintworks 3 site) within 
BSA1202 which suggests a mixed-use development incorporating housing and business, and sets out 
the following criteria for development on this site: 
- Proposals should have regard to the EZ's Spatial Framework; 
- Suggested approach is housing and business; 
- Development should be informed by a site specific flood risk assessment; 
- address noise and pollution issues from nearby industrial and waste uses and Bath Road; 
- protect and if possible, enhance River Avon corridor; 
- be designed to provide natural surveillance over the footpath to the east; 
- be informed by a Health Impact Assessment; 
- Estimated number of homes is 221 (spread across the whole allocation). 
 
It is noted that the Paintworks development already delivers in excess of the total number of dwellings 
envisaged by the allocation with approximately 330 dwellings, and a density of 120dph. 
 
The site falls within Flood Risk Zone 1, indicating a low risk of flooding.  
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
Outline planning application was granted on 12 January 2016 (BCC ref: 15/01650/P) for the erection 
of 47 dwellings and 616 m2 of B1 business use. Access, Layout and Scale were determined with 
Appearance and Landscaping reserved.  This consent has now expired and was not implemented. 
 
Advice on a pre-application enquiry was provided on 16 June 2017 (17/02029/PREAPP) for a scheme 
proposing the erection of two new buildings of 6-8 storeys in height with deck level car parking to 
provide up to 420sqm of employment floor space, 152 apartments and associated works. 
 
This proposal showed two linear buildings positioned parallel with Bath Road.  To summarise the 
advice, concerns were expressed regarding the proposed height and arrangement of the buildings, 
which departed from the recommended height in the Spatial Framework (low rise, 2-4 storeys).  The 
applicant was advised that with the right design, and a good quality contextual analysis, buildings with 
elements taller than 4 storeys may be acceptable on parts of the site.   
The lack of defensible space between the bus stop and the proposed dwellings was noted.  
The scheme proposed one car parking space per unit and due to the high number of vehicle 
movements that this would have generated, it was considered that the development would result in a 
severe impact on the highway network.  The access was considered to be insufficient for this level of 
movement. 

Page 29



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
Advice on a second pre-application enquiry was provided on 9 May 2019 (18/05471/PREAPP) for a 
scheme proposing 132 no. new dwellings across 6 development blocks, ranging between 4-7 storeys 
in height, to include amenity space and underground car parking, with associated access and 
infrastructure works. 
 
This proposal showed a perimeter arrangement with basement car parking for 50 cars, similar to that 
applied for within the current application. 
Advice was that the Urban Living SPD as well as the Spatial Framework and Daylight and Sunlight 
studies should inform the height of the proposed buildings on site, and that the scheme did not 
successfully justify buildings taller than 4 storeys. Further pre-application discussions were invited on 
the issue of access to the site, as it was noted that the high frequency bus service would result in an 
obstruction to vehicles turning right into the application site.  Further pre-application discussions were 
also advised in order to develop the massing and building heights.  The current application was 
submitted in September 2019 without any further pre-application discussions having taken place.  
 
ENFORCEMENT CASE 
 
21/30064/COU -the Council's Enforcement team investigated the use of the site for a traveller 
encampment.  It is understood that the use has now ceased and the case has been closed.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY ON NEIGHBOURING SITES 
 
15/04217/F: Demolition of Endemol building and partial demolition of Building Six; erection of new 
buildings of 4-8 storeys with underground car parking to provide up to 1769 sqm of employment floor 
space (Use Class B1), including 188sqm of flexible floor space (Use Classes A1, A3 and B1); 92no 
dwellings (Use Class C3); new open car park, public open space and associated landscaping. 
Planning permission granted on 17 January 2018. 
Later amended by application refs: 18/00571/X and 18/05012.  Works to implement this scheme 
(known as Phase IV Paintworks) are currently underway on site.  
 
APPLICATION 
 
The application has been amended a number of times since it was first submitted.   The original 
submission proposed 132 dwellings arranged around a perimeter block ranging in height between 4-7 
storeys.  Commercial floorspace of 210sqm was also proposed.  The dwellings are to be arranged to 
face onto the surrounding streets with some accessed via a central courtyard and some from the main 
entrance on Bath Road.  Access to the central courtyard would off the main access lane adjacent to 
Majestic Wines on the eastern part of the site.  
 
Vehicular access would be from Bath Road, into the existing access, and this would be adoptable to 
enable an 11.4m refuse truck to enter the site.  
 
The parking area would be at basement -2 level, with space for 49 cars and basement -1 level with 
space for 246 cycle parking spaces.  
 
Originally proposed:  
42 x 1b2p apartments 
14 x 2b3p apartments 
42 x 2b4p apartments 
26 x 2b4p maisonettes 
8 x 3bed apartments 
 
 
 

Page 30



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

AMENDMENTS DURING THE COURSE OF THE APPLICATION 
 
A number of meetings and discussions have taken place between officers and the applicant since the 
submission of the planning application, in attempt to overcome the issues that were raised at pre-
application stage.   
 
The application has been revised by the applicant following officer advice that the original submission 
was unacceptable in design and transport terms, and a number of iterations have been presented.  
 
Formal revisions were submitted on 22 Feb 2021 with consultation being carried out with all 
neighbours and consultees.  A further set of revisions were submitted on 21 July 2021, with a further 
round of consultation. 
 
The latest revisions show the following amendments: 
- Reduction in number of dwellings from 132 to 109 
- A reduction in the height of the proposed development, now being a maximum of six 
storeys; 
- Revised layout of the central courtyard; 
- Revised massing across the scheme; and 
- Setting part of the Bath Road elevation back from Bath Road and introducing an area of public 
realm. 
- Introduction of a bus lay-by to the Bath Road frontage.  
 
Revised Dwelling Mix:  
40 x 1b apartments 
36 x 2b apartments 
23 x 2b maisonettes 
10 x 3b apartments 
 
PRE APPLICATION COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
 
Due to its size, the application is required to be accompanied by a Statement of Community 
Involvement. Guidance and good practice examples exist to inform the choice of appropriate methods 
in order to help ensure effective, efficient, transparent and accountable community involvement. 
Those responsible for undertaking community involvement are expected to reflect such good practice 
to ensure inclusive, fair and effective initiatives. Failure to do so may limit the validity and relative 
credibility of the involvement undertaken.  
 
The applicant prepared a statement of community involvement (dated July 2019) which has been 
assessed, and is summarised below:  
 
i) Process  
A public exhibition was held at Arnos Vale Cemetery at the Spielman Centre on 21 May 2019 
between 3pm and 7:30pm. 500 flyers were distributed around the site to neighbouring homes and 
businesses. A Facebook page was set up via the Paintworks page.  Local residents groups were 
contacted by email.  
The SCI reports that 60 people attended the event and 37 provided their details. Feedback was 
invited via forms at the event, or as follow-up comments online after the event.  The feedback that 
was received is included in an appendix to the SCI.  
 
ii) Fundamental Outcomes  
The following issues were raised, and the applicant's response is included:  
 
Retail space instead of office space is preferred  
- A flexible use is proposed 

Page 31



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
Insufficient commercial floorspace is being provided 
- Affordable Housing is prioritised over commercial floorspace 
 
Concerns about the height 
- Applicant considers height is appropriate 
 
Parking pressure on local streets 
- A Travel Plan sets out how the development would reduce the number of private trips.  
  
Public realm 
- The scheme provides enhancements to the public realm 
 
Density and cramped accommodation 
- The applicant considers that the density is appropriate for the site in a sustainable urban location, 
and that the units comply with the National Space Standards.  
 
Bland uninspiring architecture 
- The applicant considers that the design of the buildings has been informed by public feedback and 
engagement with Bristol City Council 
 
Question of whether the provision of affordable housing on the site should be prioritised over 
employment uses 
- The applicant made no response in the SCI on this issue 
 
Green infrastructure welcomed 
 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION 
 
ORIGINAL CONSULTATION 
 
Letters were sent to 335 nearby occupier on 26.09.19.  Site and Press notices were also posted on 
02.10.19.  
 
There were 19 objections to the scheme. The following comments have been made (summarised):  
 
LAND USE OBJECTIONS 
There is only one commercial space allocated.  There should be a vibrant mix of work and live units. 
Shops and bars are also needed.  
 
DESIGN OBJECTIONS 
The tallest buildings are on the highest elevation of the site and will dwarf the Art Deco building, the 
entrance to Arnos Vale Cemetery and the trees.  
The proposal looks bland and uninspiring, especially next to the creativity of Paintworks 
The buildings will create a claustrophobic feel to Paintworks.  The buildings on Bath Road would cast 
a shadow over the whole site. 
The existing permission is far better 
The density of the scheme is too high 
The visual connection that Paintworks has to the cemetery would be lost. 
 
AMENITY OBJECTIONS 
The proposed dwellings are cramped, with limited room for storage 
There is limited access to natural light for many of the properties 
The seven storey tower block would completely eliminate the limited natural light we receive in our 
homes and outdoor spaces (211-254 Paintworks) 

Page 32



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
TRANSPORT OBJECTIONS 
There is a need for an upgraded path running by Sparke Evans Park to Temple Meads.  It is 
overgrown and littered, and not wide enough for runners, walkers and cyclists to pass.  Access from 
Edward Road and on to the bridge is often unsafe too 
Bath Road needs to be improved for cyclists and for public transport 
Occupiers of the development will be at high risk of air pollution from traffic, so the development 
needs to look at ways of reducing traffic pollution on Bath Road 
The lack of parking will mean that maverick parking will take place all around Paintworks 
Buses already fail to stop at Paintworks due to limited capacity at peak times 
 
OTHER OBJECTIONS 
There has been limited communication with residents of Paintworks from the developer 
The units do not have room for recycling bins 
The development will be identified primarily as a social housing development, which goes against the 
principle of social integration in Paintworks 
Development on this scale would not promote healthy neighbourhoods - families living in Paintworks 
have been living with building works for a long time 
 
- Arnos Vale Residents Association (summarised) 
We are waiting for an RPZ for Edward and Chatsworth Road which has already been paid for by the 
developers at Paintworks.  Employees and residents of Paintworks phases 3 and 4 currently park on 
neighbouring streets, where they block the street and the police have been called at times.  Potential 
residents of this scheme will therefore do the same.  There are other developments in the area which 
will come forward (Paintworks 4 and Totterdown Tower), with inadequate parking, but there is a lack 
of provision locally.  The access to the site is also not good enough - the road is narrow and there is a 
bus stop.  This will cause traffic jams and is an accident waiting to happen.  I also object to the fact 
that there is no job creation - this is the Enterprise Zone and there should be some contribution to EZ 
requirements.  
 
- Verve Properties Ltd (Paintworks) (summarised) Verve Properties Ltd have also 
commissioned a Transport Statement prepared by Highgate Transportation Ltd in response to that 
submitted with the application.   
The expired Outline consent is relevant to the determination of this application.  
The current proposal provides just 210sqm office floorspace, which is a reduction of 66% from the 
Outline permission and represents just 1.5% of the total floor area proposed.  This is entirely 
inappropriate for an existing employment site in the Enterprise Zone and conflicts with adopted 
policies. 
The applicant has provided no justification for the development against DM12 (Retaining Valuable 
Employment Sites), and no Economic Statement (which is a validation requirement) has been 
provided with the application.  There is a current waiting list for non-institutional small business space, 
which clearly demonstrates the demand described in the Spatial Framework.  The Paintworks scheme 
has proven that it is possible to deliver a mixed use development of small business space and open 
market and affordable housing.  It should not be necessary for the development to be a purely 
housing scheme.    
 
The proposal does not achieve the Spatial Framework aim for this site of being a creative hub 
comprising workshops, live/work units, houses and apartments.   
The Spatial Framework also sets an indicative development quantum which seeks to realise 
30,000sqm of gross employment floorspace for the Avon Riverside Zone.  The applicant should 
therefore justify how they sufficiently contribute towards this target.  
 
No Health Impact Assessment was submitted with the application.   
The application should be refused on the basis that it does not comply with the Site Allocation and 
DM14 (The Health Impacts of Development). 

Page 33



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
The current application exceeds the Spatial Framework in height - it also exceeds the height granted 
by the Outline scheme, and would be an undefined seven storey mass that would create an 
uncomfortable relationship with surrounding buildings.  The proposed building line is further forward 
than the Deco building, and has no active frontage which further exacerbates the poor relationship. 
 
Similar problems exist to the rear, where the 6 storey flatted development is at odds with the sense of 
community and place successfully created at Paintworks. 
 
The Bath Road frontage should deliver an active frontage and take the opportunity to make it more 
legible and to promote the economic and creative -led vision and objectives of the Enterprise Zone 
and Avon Riverside Area.  The proposal compromises the ambition of the Spatial Framework at one 
of the few main road sites. 
 
Highgate Transport report (on behalf of Verve Properties): 
Opening up the now blocked off historic access to the Hursley Hill Site should be considered as a 
reason for refusal on highway safety grounds since:  
- Part of the access design results in a substandard right hand turn lane which in turn reduces 
the right hand turn capacity for the Paintworks site.  
- Whilst the 2016 application used the same access, this was egress only with no right hand 
turn lane. The proposal would require this right turn lane to be shortened which would worsen the 
visibility from the bus stop cage on the eastbound carriageway. 
- Due to the fact that the site has been vacant for many years, the traffic flows may not be offset 
against the development traffic forecast from the application proposals. 
- The access is too close to the Majestic Wine delivery warehouse and would result in conflict.  
- The bus stop cage would need to be reduced in length and this would result in buses queuing. 
- Junction visibility is severely impaired when a bus is stopped at the bus stop.  
- There was no Road Safety Audit (RSA) submitted with the application.  Highgate have 
therefore included an independent RSA which confirms that the access arrangements are unsafe.  
- Whilst the current access into the site was seen as appropriate for the Outline consent 
scheme, at the time this application was considered, the junction onto Central Avenue (to Paintworks) 
was an egress only with no right turn lane.   
 
SECOND CONSULTATION 
 
Consultation letters for the revised scheme were sent on 23.02.21.  
 
12 additional objections were submitted in response to the revisions, and the additional issues raised 
are summarised below:  
 
REGEN (Paintworks) 
- The revised proposals do not appear to have been informed by an appropriate urban context 
analysis and does not meet the requirement for the 'highest possible design credentials' 
- The Land Viability report does not mention the recent phase 4 Paintworks site therefore the 
quality of comparable evidence is questioned.  
- The Daylight and Sunlight assessment does not follow the methods of BRE and does not 
correctly consider the context of the Paintworks development.  It does not look at the external amenity 
spaces within the scheme. 
 
VERVE PROPERTIES (Paintworks) 
- Paintworks has not been used as a comparable in the viability report.  Petrol filling site had 
different considerations and is not directly comparable.   
- No agreement exists for access links across Paintworks.  We have offered to engage but only 
for a suitable quality and compliant scheme.  It is not possible to achieve these aims if the site value is 
too high. The north east corner is annotated with greenery which is actually our public realm.  

Page 34



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
OTHER OBJECTIONS 
109 units is far too high and the scheme is still far too dense and cramped.  
Units do not have much storage space within them 
The scheme still does not provide a true mix of uses 
The scheme creates a barrier between it and Paintworks - people would not easily be able to access 
the active travel route across the bridge (to Sparke Evans Park).  
The scheme does not commit to installing solar panels or building an integrated sustainable heating 
system.  This is not fit for a city that declared the first Climate Emergency.  
The entire ground floor should be devoted to public use that encourages life and community.  
There are no car club spaces. 
 
THIRD CONSULTATION 
 
Consultation letters for the latest revised scheme were sent on 09.09.21. 
 
Three additional objections were submitted in response to the revisions, but no new issues were 
raised.  
 
Verve comments:  
 
- Whilst the bus stop helps the right turn without an island so close to the Paintworks access still 
creates a dangerous turn in. Please see our detailed highways report (attached)  in our previous 
objection which still stands in particular the lack of road safety audit and the reliance on the low 
density 2015 consent which pre dated the new entrance and egress access at Paintworks (with traffic 
island ). 
 
- The lack of appropriate amount of commercial space. What is included is of such poor 
suitability and location it could be considered unlettable and therefore likely to be subject to a future 
application to convert to residential. This site is within the Enterprise zone and to most casual 
observers will be thought of as part of Paintworks. Why should it therefore be residential only? 
Reference is made to the density reflecting Paintworks however this ignores the entirely relevant fact 
that high density was needed to enable the inclusion of a large proportion of commercial. To 
accurately compare the density therefore there would need to be a similar (23%) amount of 
commercial. 
 
- Architecturally it remains very poor and uninteresting, a fact made worse by the fact it hides 
the much superior building (s) behind it. The DAS includes references to details in Paintworks 
however they reference the cheap details and none of the expensive, there are no engraved curved 
feature parapets, glazed bricks, feature brickwork etc. There needs to be an improvement in the 
architecture and detailing and a gap created in the middle so the better quality building behind can be 
seen from the Bath Rd. The introduction of the stone plinth to match Paintworks is welcomed however 
it is so small I have struggled to find it! 
 
- The public realm will not be able to extend beyond the boundary. 
 
Ward Members 
 
Councillor Jos Clark 
I would like this application to be considered by Committee if it is to be recommended for approval.  
Reasons:  Overdevelopment of site, lack of local amenity, lack of adequate local parking, height of 
proposed buildings.  
15.03.21.  
 
 

Page 35



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

OTHER COMMENTS 
 
Air Quality has commented as follows:- 
 
The air quality assessment identifies the need to mitigation of potential emissions of dust and PM10 
during construction activities and identifies a need for a CEMP to include dust mitigation measures. 
Recommended dust mitigation measures are identified in section 6.1.1 of the air quality assessment. 
 
The air quality assessment has demonstrated that air quality at the development site is compliant with 
air quality objectives and the potential impacts from additional vehicle movements and on-site gas 
plant have been screened out as insignificant using an acceptable screening methodology.  
 
The development is considered acceptable from an air quality perspective. 
 
Contaminated Land Environmental Protection has commented as follows:- 
 
The Desk Study and Ground Investigation Report prepared by T & P Regeneration dated October 
2018 (Ref 18Oct_BTH2258_DSGI) has been reviewed.  
 
Our records indicate the site has a number of specific uses not referred to in the Desk Study (this 
information is sourced from the Kellys Trade Directories) 
  
345 Bath Road 
  
1932 - post 1973:  
Lucas Joseph - Motor Accessory Manufacturers  
Part of this site was used for battery production, historical planning records show an "acid channel" 
and neutralising chambers on site 
1932 - 1950  
Rotax - motor accessory  
Arnos Vale Garage 
1932 - 1960  
C A Vandervell - Motor equipment manufacturers  
  
349 Bath Road:  
1960 - post 1973 - Michael Nairn & Co Linoleum Manufacturers 
  
None of the sample locations target this battery production area or associated drainage channels, the 
closest location to this area of the site was not subject to sampling. 
 
This report was written before current scheme designs which appear to involve significant removal of 
material from site at the Bath Road end to form the car park space. Can the applicants confirm the 
depths of excavations proposed so we can determine if the samples taken relate to material being 
retained on site/removed off site etc. We presume this will be undertaken via some form of materials 
management plan and probably under the CL:AIRE DoWCoP scheme?  
 
We do feel a more robust risk assessment is required but have no objection to this being undertaken 
via planning conditions.  
 
Therefore it is recommended standard conditions B11 B12 B13 and c1 are applied to any future 
planning consent.  
 
Please note B11 and B12 can be worded to facilitate demolition prior to submission and B13 can be 
worded to read prior to occupation upon request.  
 

Page 36



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

Flood Risk Manager has commented as follows:- 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority held an initial objection, although discussions are ongoing and are 
described at Key Issue (J).  Original comments are below:  
 - No evidence is presented that the proposed drainage strategy has followed the NPPF, Non 
Statutory Technical Standards and, most importantly, the West of England Sustainable Drainage 
Developers Guide. These documents, particularly the latter, expect developments to promote multi-
functional, source control, sustainable drainage features for example (but not limited to) green roofs, 
rain gardens, permeable surfacing (in privately maintained areas), bioretention features etc.  
 - The above documents also require sites to limit surface water runoff as close to greenfield 
rates of runoff as possible. Our existing local policies require at least 30% reduction. No evidence is 
provided as to whether limiting the site discharge to greenfield rates would be reasonably practicable, 
or whether a greater than 30% reduction can be achieved 
 - We agree that connection to the public surface water sewer network is appropriate due to the 
lack of a watercourse within or adjacent to the sites redline boundary. However, no liaison with 
Wessex Water has been undertaken to agree discharge rates into their network. In addition, the 
existing surveys are inconclusive as to whether the site discharges to the public sewer, therefore it is 
even more important to obtain Wessex Water's agreement at planning application stage to the 
discharge rates and avoid potentially abortive work 
 - Whilst we appreciate the assessment of exceedance routes but we recommend the proposed 
development includes some raising of ground floor thresholds to increase resilience against surface 
water flooding 
 - We would welcome early discussion with the applicant to address the above reasons for 
objection  
 
Avon Fire & Rescue Service has commented as follows:- 
 
Consulted 25.09.19.  No comments received. 
 
Urban Design has commented as follows:- 
 
After a number of revisions, the design is considered to be acceptable, and the scheme responds 
adequately to the guidance in the Urban Living SPD.  Full consideration is at Key Issue (E). 
 
Bristol Waste Company has commented as follows:- 
 
Developers and site managers must ensure the turning point is sufficient to allow refuse and recycling 
vehicles to turn and reverse into the courtyard.  
OFFICER NOTE: Vehicle tracking has been provided and is acceptable.  
Developers should also be aware of the noise caused by the servicing of glass MRC bins within a 
courtyard environment as this has caused complaints with early collections.  
OFFICER NOTE:  A condition is applied limiting the hours for servicing. 
 
Sustainable Cities Team has commented as follows:- 
 
Earlier concerns have been removed, no objections.  
Full consideration at Key Issue (I). 
 
Transport Development Management has commented as follows:- 
 
No objection 
This note follows the submission of a revised design in July 2021 which was accompanied by a 
revised Design & Access Statement and Addendum to the Transport Technical Note. 
The main change affecting transport is that the design now includes a bus layby to the front of the site 
as previously sought by TDM. 

Page 37



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

The revised design has been the subject of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and tracking has been 
provided for a refuse vehicle entering and exiting the site. 
In all other respects, from a transport point of view, the proposal is as before. Given that the lack of a 
bus layby at the front of the site was the sole reason for refusal from TDM, now that this has been 
resolved we wish to remove our objection to the proposal. 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
Urban Living SPD - November 2018 
 
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
National Planning Policy Framework – July 2021 
Bristol Local Plan comprising Core Strategy (Adopted June 2011), Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies (Adopted July 2014) and (as appropriate) the Bristol Central Area Plan 
(Adopted March 2015) and (as appropriate) the Old Market Quarter Neighbourhood Development 
Plan 2016 and Lawrence Weston Neighbourhood Development Plan 2017 and the Hengrove and 
Whitchurch Park Neighbourhood Development Plan 2019. 
 
In determining this application, the Local Planning Authority has had regard to all relevant policies of 
the Bristol Local Plan and relevant guidance. 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
(A) HOUSING DELIVERY AND POLICY BALANCE 
 
Section 5 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines that housing applications should 
be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) should deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for 
home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities. 
 
Policy BCS5 (Housing Provision) of the Core Strategy outlines that delivery of housing to meet the 
Council's housing targets will primarily be focused on previously developed sites however some open 
space will be utilised for housing development.  
 
Policy BCS18 (Housing Type) of the Core Strategy states that all new residential development should 
maintain, provide or contribute to a mix of housing tenures, types and sizes to help support the 
creation of mixed, balanced and inclusive communities. 
 
Policy DM1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) of the SADMP outlines that the 
city's approach to development proposals will generally be positive and reflective of the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development as referenced throughout the NPPF. 
 
On 19 January 2021, the government published the results of its 2020 Housing Delivery Test, which 
aims to measure how effectively each local authority is delivering housing against NPPF requirement 
to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites plus five per cent land supply buffer as 
standard.  Bristol was found to be delivering only 72% of the housing requirement.  The penalties for 
this will be that Bristol will have to provide a "buffer" of sites for 20% more homes than are needed to 
meet their five-year target, will be required to produce a Housing Action Plan, and the presumption in 
favour of development in the NPPF will apply. 
 
In view of the fact that the LPA is not able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply, The 
"presumption in favour of sustainable development" requirement of the NPPF, paragraph 11(d) is 
engaged, and the tilted balance applies.  
 

Page 38



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

There are two aspects to understanding whether planning permission as prescribed by Paragraph 
11(d) should be granted and whether policies which are most important to determining the application 
are out of date:  
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  
 
In respect of this application, it is considered that the initial objections relating to quality of design and 
highway safety have been overcome to the satisfaction of officers.  The benefits of delivering housing 
on this allocated, but as yet undeveloped site, are described in the following paragraphs, and are 
considered to outweigh any adverse impacts arising from the scheme.  The tilted balance is therefore 
applied in favour of development in this case.   
 
(B) IS THE PROPOSAL ACCEPTABLE IN LAND USE TERMS?  
 
The site allocation BSA1202 includes housing and business. 
The site is within the Temple Quarter Enterprise Zone, and as such, advice in the adopted Enterprise 
Zone Spatial Framework applies.  The Spatial Framework sits alongside the suite of adopted local 
plan policies and is used as a guidance document and a tool for assessing developments in the 
Enterprise Zone.  It is not afforded the same weight as adopted policies.   
The Spatial Framework encourages a wide range of uses as part of the growth and regeneration of 
the area as an employment-led, mixed-use quarter of the city centre. Mixed-use is set out to be where 
residential comprises up to 60% of the total floorspace, with the remaining 40% as employment 
generating. 
 
The proposed commercial use is located in the north-eastern corner of the site, at a raised level 
fronting onto Central Avenue, which is a private road in the Paintworks development.  Over the course 
of the application assessment, the proposed floor area of this use has increased from 210sqm to 
306sqm, largely following officer comments that 210sqm commercial floorspace was considered 
insufficient to truly respond to the requirement for a "mixed use" development within the site 
allocation. 
 
The applicant has proposed additional commercial floorspace to show a total of 306sqm, which they 
have said could generate up to 30 jobs.  Whilst this is still low in comparison with the split envisaged 
by the Spatial Framework, the applicant has sought to respond to this issue by providing an Economic 
Statement. The Economic Statement refers to the inclusion in the allocation of the whole of 
Paintworks, with the Paintworks development typically including a higher proportion of commercial 
floorspace and proportionately less affordable housing.  The statement considers that the application 
scheme redresses the balance and increases the quantum of affordable housing across the 
allocation.  The Economic Statement has also set out why, due to site constraints, it is not considered 
feasible to provide additional commercial floorspace (due to highways and site ownership issues 
which are seen to limit access for access and servicing).   It also states that increased commercial 
floorspace would further impact on the potential for delivering affordable housing. 
 
The nearby development at the Esso site, approved under reference 18/04620/F contained 418sqm 
office (B1(a)) floorspace and 152 units and this was seen as an acceptable proportion of residential to 
commercial floorspace in view of the particular site constraints and the site's location. 
 
On balance, the provision of 306sqm commercial floorspace is seen as acceptable in view of the 
above considerations.  It is also noted that the description of development refers to either a 
commercial or retail use, however retail is a town centre use and any floor area above 200sqm would 
be subject to the retail sequential test in policy DM7, in view of its location outside of a designated 
centre.  In view of this policy requirement, a condition shall be applied to limit any retail floorspace to a 
maximum of 200sqm.  Commercial floorspace (ie not a town centre use) could occupy the full 306sqm 

Page 39



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

proposed.  
 
The findings of Key Issue (A) are also repeated here - Bristol is unable to demonstrate a five year 
housing land supply, and the NPPF therefore requires a presumption in favour to meet the 
development needs of the area - in this case, the delivery of housing. 
   
(C) IS THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT VIABLE, AND DOES IT PROVIDE AN APPROPRIATE 
LEVEL OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING? 
 
The proposed development falls within Use Class C3 of the Use Classes Order, meaning that it is 
required to address the Council's Affordable Housing Policies. It comprises 109 dwellings and 
therefore it is required to comply with Core Strategy Policy BCS17, which seeks the provision of up to 
30% affordable housing (33 affordable dwellings) subject to scheme viability. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the associated Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) were revised in 2019, and these revisions are pertinent to the assessment of scheme viability.  
 
The Applicant has claimed that, to remain viable in planning terms, the proposed scheme is only able 
to provide 15% affordable housing. A Viability Report and supporting commentary has been submitted 
by JLL on behalf of the Applicant in support of the claimed viability position.  
 
The applicant has stated that they intend to provide 50% affordable housing, with the additional 35% 
being grant funded (i.e. funded through the public purse). Officers advise that there is no reason why 
developers should not provide additional affordable housing, via the use of grant funding, over and 
above that required by Council policy. However this is not a planning matter that should be given 
weight in determining the application. The supporting text to Policy BCS17 clearly states that "The 
council will expect the affordable housing to be delivered without public subsidy and provided on site". 
 
Therefore the issue for consideration is the level of affordable housing (up to 30%) that can be 
provided without public subsidy through a Section 106 Agreement, and whether the 15% claim made 
by the applicant is acceptable. 
 
Officers commissioned BNP Paribas to assess the JLL Viability Report and advise the Council as to 
whether the Applicant's claim was reasonable.  
 
Whilst BNP Paribas agreed with many of the inputs used by JLL in their Viability Report, there were a 
number of areas of disagreement, the key one being build costs.  
 
For a scheme of this size (total value of over £30m) a detailed cost plan would be expected as part of 
the viability submission, however only very limited information had been provided, and it contained no 
justification as to how costs had been derived. BNP Paribas requested further cost information from 
the applicant in April 2021and the applicant provided the information on 20 October 2021. 
 
The information submitted on 20 October 2021 was a mixture of quotes for specific elements of the 
build, quotes for works to be undertaken on a different site being developed by the applicant, with the 
figures applied to the application site on a pro rata basis, indicative costs from suppliers, and some in 
house costs. There is no confirmation that the quotes provided were accepted, or represented the 
best value or best quality quote. Consequently, given the relatively rudimentary level of information 
provided, and the lateness of its provision; BNP Paribas cannot be confident that the information 
provided accurately reflects the likely build costs of the development.  
 
Prior to receipt of the build cost information on 20 October 2021, BNP Paribas were of the view that 
the scheme could provide a policy compliant 30% affordable housing. An update will be provided to 
members prior to committee as to whether BNP Paribas opinion has changed due to their assessment 
of the build cost information submitted. 

Page 40



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
Officers recommend approving the application based on the provision of the percentage of affordable 
housing that BNP Paribas conclude can be provided. However, committee should note that this will 
not be based on a high level of confidence that the build costs accurately reflect the likely build costs 
of the development. 
 
Finally, should members wish to approve the application with less than 30% affordable housing then it 
is recommended that an upwards only viability review should be required if the development has not 
commenced within 18 months of a planning consent being granted. Given the uncertainty around 
build costs, a further upwards only viability review should be required on first occupation of the 
development, as by this time the build costs will have been crystallised. 
 
(D) DWELLING MIX 
 
Section 6 of the NPPF reflects the need to significantly boost the supply of housing and to deliver a 
wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, 
inclusive and mixed communities. Policy BSC18  of the adopted Core Strategy reflects this guidance 
and states that ''all new residential development should maintain, provide or contribute to a mix of 
housing tenures, types and sizes to help support the creation of mixed, balanced and inclusive 
communities'' Paragraph 4.18.5, with reference to the evidence provided by the Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment, also notes that `developments should contribute to a mix of housing types and 
avoid excessive concentrations of one particular type'.  The policy wording states that development 
`should aim to' contribute to the diversity of housing in the local area and help to redress any housing 
imbalance that exists.   
 
Analysis of the city's general housing needs and demands has identified a number of indicative 
requirements for each of 6 city zones. The zones reflect sub-market areas used in the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The intention is to provide a strategic steer for all sizes of 
residential scheme within each zone. Within the Bristol South Zone, 1 bed, 2 bed and 3 bed flats are 
considered appropriate. However, a more local area-based assessment is required to assess the 
development's contribution to housing mix. A smaller scale will not provide a proper understanding of 
the mix of that area; a larger scale may conceal localised housing imbalances. As a guide the 
neighbourhood is defined as an area equivalent to the size of a Census Lower Level Super Output 
Area (average of 1,500 residents). 
 
The application site is located within the Sandy Park Road LSOA within the Brislington West Ward 
and is also very close to the boundary with Lower Totterdown and Wells Road LSOAs. A picture of 
the range of housing types in the LSOA can be obtained by consulting the 2011 Census data. The 
Sandy Park Road LSOA has a ratio of flats to houses at: 25.1% : 74.9%.  Lower Totterdown LSOA 
has a ratio of flats to houses at 56.9% : 43.1%.  Wells Road LSOA has a ratio of flats to houses at 
43% : 57%.  For Brislington West ward as a whole, the ratio is 20.5% : 79.5%. 
 
It can be seen that accommodation in this part of the city is predominantly in houses, and there is a 
lack of units for smaller households of 1- and 2- bedrooms.  New residential development is therefore 
expected to seek to redress the balance, and in this area therefore, to provide a range of unit sizes 
including smaller units.   
 
The proposed mix is as follows:  
1bed - 40 
2 bed - 36 
2 bed maisonette - 23 
3 bed - 10 
 
The scheme would still retain 10% of the units as larger 3 bedroom units, which would provide family-
sized dwellings.  This is commensurate with the BCS18 policy requirement to create neighbourhoods 

Page 41



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

with a mix of tenures, housing types and sizes, and the dwelling mix is therefore acceptable.  
 
(E) WOULD THE PROPOSAL BE OF AN ACCEPTABLE HEIGHT, MASSING, DENSITY AND 
OVERALL DESIGN, AND HOW WOULD IT IMPACT ON HERITAGE ASSETS? 
 
The NPPF requires new development to establish a strong sense of place, and to be visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture, being sympathetic to the local character and history, while 
not preventing appropriate change (including increased densities).  
 
In addition, requiring good design is at the heart of Bristol planning policy, and BCS21 expects a high 
quality design in all developments, which contributes positively to an area's character and identity, 
creating or reinforcing local distinctiveness.  
DM26 requires new development to respond positively to the site, creating and enhancing public 
spaces and responding appropriately to height scale and massing of existing buildings.  
DM27 requires development to achieve a coherent, interconnected and integrated built form, and to 
use trees and plants appropriate to the character of the area.  
DM28 requires development to incorporate high quality and inclusive public realm, which is well 
surveilled and reduces crime and the fear of crime.  
DM29 requires all new buildings to respond to their solar orientation, incorporate active frontages and 
clearly defined main entrances facing the public realm that emphasise corners and reinforce the most 
prominent frontages.  
 
The Urban Living SPD was adopted by the Council in November 2018, and recognises the need to 
deliver at least 33,500 new homes by 2036. The document seeks to guide development towards 
creating compact, characterful and healthy urban areas, and to ensure that schemes respond 
positively to existing and emerging context. 
 
The scheme proposes the redevelopment of the site to provide predominantly residential use, with 
some commercial units at ground floor, configured in a perimeter block form ranging between 4-6 
storeys in height.  The density of the scheme has been reduced from 269dph to 213dph in the revised 
submission. The Urban Living SPD identifies the site as being within the Inner Urban Area, where the 
recommended density is 120 dwellings per hectare.  Whilst the density is higher than the 
recommendation in the ULSPD, it is considered that the revised scheme has successfully overcome 
earlier concerns about design and furthermore, importantly, opportunities for enhanced public realm 
have been taken, with an additional set-back on Bath Road and a full landscaping scheme which will 
be conditioned.  The site is also sustainably located, and within 15 minutes' walk of Bristol Temple 
Meads Station and with regular bus services from the bus stops outside the site.  The higher density, 
which has been reduced with improvements to the scheme during the course of the application, is 
supported in this instance.  
 
Height, scale and massing: 
In view of the height suggestion within the Enterprise Zone Spatial Framework of 2-4 storeys being 
appropriate on this site, height in excess of 4 storeys needs to be justified with a robust background 
townscape and views analysis.  This advice has been provided to the applicant at pre-application 
stage.  
 
The amended plans show a reduction in height across the scheme, and this is welcomed.  The height 
of 4-6 storeys still represents a building of scale compared with the context and it is considered that 
the latest scheme has successfully responded to earlier concerns.  Officers now have sufficient 
assurance on the quality of articulation and elevation treatment, which is considered to mitigate the 
scale, break up the massing and responds positively to the grain and character of surrounding 
development, both new and old.  
 
The proposed elevations and sections contained in Townscape and Visual Impact Appraisal shows 
the scheme as a convincing addition to the already dense Paintworks built environment. 

Page 42



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

The scheme has sought to articulate this through revised massing to the roof line.  Together with an 
enhanced fenestration approach, the scheme has improved the articulation of roof line and form.  
As the applicant's DAS addendum highlights, the existing Paintworks development exhibits a number 
of roof forms, responding to previous industrial architecture, but also the gables and detailing of the 
residential properties to the south.  
 
Appearance and detailing: 
As above, the revisions demonstrate positive changes, which improve the appearance of the scheme.  
City Design Group required a 'Design Intent Document' to understand and confirm the design 
approach meets the expected quality standard. This has been submitted and includes illustrative 
sections through windows, doors and material junctions.  This ensures the continuity of quality and will 
be secured by condition.  
 
Layout and form:  
The site is characterised by a 6m fall from the Bath Road frontage to Central Road to the north and 
this topography forms an important part of the local character. It is noted that the design revisions 
have responded to this at street level with access and threshold space associated with maisonettes 
along the east-west routes.  
 
The current hoardings on the site are set back from Bath Road, in line with the Majestic Wine building 
Frontage and Art Deco building to the west. This space provides important relief from the busy road, 
particularly given the tight dimensions created by the boundary wall to the south of the A4.  
 
It is noted that the amended proposals provide more generous public realm to this frontage, and in 
response to officer comments the most westerly corner has been further set back so that it aligns with 
the building line established between the Majestic Wine building and the Art Deco building on the 
adjacent site. The location of residential units at street level on this frontage, with private amenity 
space, requires a generous set back from the street, with substantial landscaping to provide 
appropriate privacy and defence from the anticipated noise and air quality issues. This has now been 
addressed in the current scheme, with assurance on a robust landscaping scheme having been 
provided by the applicant.  In terms of the impact on the public realm, this also alleviates the sense of 
enclosure at street level for pedestrians and cyclists using Bath Road, given the constraint of existing 
stone retaining wall on the west-bound carriageway.  
 
Edges and public realm: 
Despite its perimeter block form and frontage onto street edges, the site is effectively bound by private 
land on three sides. This creates challenging edge conditions, which are further constrained by the 
topography of the site. The Design Intent Document contains assurance on how the threshold space, 
material details and construction details would meet visual and functional expectations.   
 
In summary the quality of design proposed is now considered to be sufficient to justify the height and 
scale of the proposals. 
The architectural quality of the scheme is considered sufficient to justify the quantum and intensity of 
development, and with the details in the Design Intent Document secured by condition would provide 
a quality response to context.   
 
Heritage Assets: 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 
setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
The Authority is also required (under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990) to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
or appearance of the conservation area. The case of R (Forge Field Society) v Sevenoaks DC [2014] 
EWHC 1895 (Admin) ("Forge Field") has made it clear where there is harm to a listed building or a 

Page 43



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

conservation area the decision maker ''must give that harm considerable importance and weight." 
[48]. This is applicable here because there is harm to the settings of certain listed buildings caused by 
the proposals as set out below.  
 
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight shall be).  This is irrespective 
of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to 
its significance. 
Further, paragraph 200 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear 
and convincing justification.  It states that substantial harm or loss of grade II listed buildings or grade 
II registered parks or gardens should be exceptional, and assets of the highest significance should be 
wholly exceptional.  
Paragraph 201 states that where a proposed development would lead to substantial harm to (or total 
loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, LPAs should refuse consent unless it is 
demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm 
or loss, or where certain criteria apply).  Finally, paragraph 202 states where a proposed development 
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable 
use. 
 
In addition, the adopted Bristol Core Strategy Policy BCS22 and the adopted Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies Policy DM31 seek to ensure that development proposals 
safeguard or enhance heritage assets in the city. 
 
Officers have undertaken the assessment required under the Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the NPPF, and have given special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the assets, their setting and features of special architectural or historic 
interest which they possess. They have given this harm considerable importance and weight. 
 
a) Significance of the heritage assets 
 
i) Local and Registered park and garden Arnos Vale Cemetery including Grade II-Star Listed entrance 
Lodges 
This is a designated historic landscape, containing a series of highly regarded listed buildings. The 
significance of this landscape is derived from being an early example of a designed landscape 
dedicated as a burial ground. 
 
ii) Arnos Vale Conservation Area 
This is a nationally designated heritage asset - focused principally on Arnos Court and Arnos Vale 
Cemetery, with its green park setting. 
 
b) Impact of the proposed development  
 
i) Local and Registered park and garden Arnos Vale Cemetery 
The scheme would be viewed across the road from the main entrance of the cemetery, as shown on 
the cover of the applicant's Design and Access statement Addendum.  Whilst this view has not been 
included in the TVIA, it is clear that the development would result in less than substantial harm to the 
setting of this heritage asset. The proposed buildings would be visible from within Arnos Vale 
Cemetery above the Grade II-Star Listed entrance Lodges. The views of the development would 
result in a degree of less than substantial harm to the listed building.  
 
ii) Arnos Vale Conservation Area 
The scheme would be visible in views from this conservation area, including from the area around the 

Page 44



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

Arnos Vale Cemetery and the St Mary Redcliffe Cemetery.  The views of the development would 
result in a degree of less than substantial harm to the setting of this conservation area.  
 
c)   Is the Impact of the Proposed Works (Harm/Loss of Significance) Justified or 
Outweighed? 
 
The DAS addendum states that this scheme would not have any greater impact on Arnos Vale 
Cemetery than the Outline scheme approved under application reference 15/01650/P.  The outline 
scheme displayed a much lower density and massing than the scheme subject of this application and 
is therefore not seen as a direct comparison.  It should also be noted for the Outline scheme, matters 
relating to Appearance and Landscaping were reserved.  It is however considered that the quality of 
design proposed has been lifted by the recent amendments, and this, as well as the improved public 
realm associated with the proposal, is sufficient to justify the height and scale.  
The degree of harm is considered to be 'less than substantial', but that harm would be outweighed by 
the public benefit arising from the delivery of housing and improved public realm.  
  
Overall the appearance of the scheme is now considered to be acceptable, and the less than 
substantial harm identified to heritage assets would be outweighed by the public benefit of a quality 
public realm in front of an around the site, delivery of housing for which there is an identified critical 
need, as well as quality elevations secured through design details. 
 
(F) ARE TRANSPORT AND MOVEMENT IMPACTS ACCEPTABLE?  
 
The NPPF states that developments should ensure that safe and suitable access can be achieved for 
all users.  It also states that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the 
road network would be severe.   
 
BCS10 sets out development proposals should be located where sustainable travel patterns can be 
achieved and with more intensive, higher density development at accessible centres and along or 
close to public transport routes.  It requires developments to be designed and located to ensure the 
provision of safe streets.  
 
DM23 expects development to provide a safe and adequate access onto the highway network secure, 
accessible and usable level of parking provision having a regard to parking standards, as well as 
secure and well-located cycle parking and facilities for cyclists.  The same policy also expects 
developments to provide appropriate servicing and loading facilities which make effective and efficient 
use of land and be integral to the design of the development.  DM32 requires residential development 
to provide sufficient space for the storage of recycling and refuse containers, and for the need for 
storage to be acceptable in terms of its visual impact.   
 
DM24 (Transport Schemes) expands on BCS10, stating that the proposals listed (including A4 Bath 
Road) reflect the schemes set out in the West of England Partnership's Joint Local Transport Plan 3 
(2011-2026).  DM24 seeks to safeguard the land required for the implementation of the proposals 
which have land use implications.  The policy states that development in safeguarded areas which 
would prejudice the future implementation of transport schemes will not be permitted.  
 
The submission is accompanied by a Transport Statement (TS) and has been reviewed by the 
Council's Transport Development Management Team (TDM).  
 
Local Conditions  
The site has excellent accessibility being adjacent to main bus routes, and close to services within the 
site and in central Bristol. Good connections exist to the St Philips Greenway cycle route to the east of 
the site.  
The A4 (Bath Road) is heavily trafficked, and used by an estimated 23,000 vehicles per day.  

Page 45



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

The TS analyses collisions around the site and finds that there were six collisions along this stretch of 
Bath Rd over a five year period (2014-2018) of which five were categorised as slight and one serious. 
There was no obvious clustering and the collisions did not occur immediately outside the proposed 
site. 
 
TRIP GENERATION 
 
The applicant's TS states that the previously approved outline scheme, which included 58 car parking 
spaces, would have generated 21AM peak and 26 PM peak vehicular trips. It therefore considers that 
the same trip generation would be appropriate for the current application where 49 car parking spaces 
were proposed, which has been reduced to 38 in the latest amendments.  Officers are in agreement 
with this. 
 
In terms of other modes, the number of trips per day is expected to be 11 cycling, 223 walking, 83 bus 
and 23 rail, so the site would be expected to mainly be accessed using sustainable modes.  
 
The revised design contains fewer flats and fewer car parking spaces so it follows that trip generation 
would be slightly lower for the revised proposal, although this is not considered to fundamentally 
change the assessment provided by TDM. 
 
ACCESS  
 
There have been lengthy discussions dating back to pre-application stages on how appropriate 
access arrangements should be provided for this site.  
 
Officers had previously advised that the access to this site should be from the north-west corner of the 
site, in order to minimise accesses onto the A4 for highway safety reasons.  This north-west access 
point is no longer possible since a wall has been constructed (under permitted development) where 
the entrance used to be, as well as the fact that this access is from a private road within the 
Paintworks development.  
 
In the originally submitted scheme, prior to the bus lay-by being introduced, officers assessed the 
impact on the road network to be severe and therefore maintained an objection to the scheme on 
highway safety grounds.  By way of background, the considerations that have led to the currently 
proposed access layout are set out in the following paragraphs. 
 
The Outline scheme utilised the existing vehicular access from Bath Road, albeit concerns were 
raised during the application around the visibility from the access in respect of the location of the bus 
stop.  As such, a condition requiring details of the works to Bath Road to provide site access was 
attached to the decision.  The reason for the condition was to "ensure that all road works associated 
with the proposed development are planned and approved in good time to include any Highways 
Orders, and to a standard approved by the LPA and are completed before occupation." 
 
Details to discharge this condition were never submitted to the LPA for approval, and no formal 
highways agreement was ever completed in respect of the development.   
 
The use of the existing access (without a bus lay-by) would no longer be considered appropriate in 
view of the following considerations: 
 
- The right turn lane into Central Avenue (leading north towards Paintworks) had not been introduced 
when the Outline application was considered.  The right turn lane to Paintworks is now in place and it 
is considered that with a proposed additional right turn lane at the application site, (some 60m away), 
in addition to the existing location of a double bus stop - as well as the characteristics of Bath Road at 
this point - is likely to lead to vehicular conflict.  
 

Page 46



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

- In addition, and particularly in view of additional residential developments coming forward in the 
area, the A4 is becoming a more intensified route and with the committed mass transit study is 
destined to have a much higher intensity in the coming years, which would pose an even greater risk 
of conflict. 
 
- The delay caused on one of Bristol's primary corridors would have been severe, and at times when 
delays in boarding times occur, the stopped bus could essentially block Bath Rd eastbound for a 
significant period.  
 
The applicant previously carried out extensive research of alternative access arrangements and 
options for moving the bus stop as set out in Technical Note 800.0005/TN/2.  Upon review of the 
options, it transpired that in view of land ownership issues, officers recommended that the option 
showing a recessed bus stop within a new lay-by on the site frontage on the northern edge of the site 
would be the option least likely to result in conflict.  The advice given (by TDM) was that the lay-by 
would still not be ideal and that it would need to be subject to a Road Safety Audit (RSA).   
  
The applicant initially disagreed and provided a rebuttal of this advice, including RSAs submitted 
against each option.  Upon further discussions, this element has been revisited and the double bus 
lay-by is now proposed.  The revised design has been the subject of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and 
tracking has been provided for a refuse vehicle entering and exiting the site. 
 
The proposed introduction of a central island where none currently exists would, without the bus lay-
by, impose a very narrow 3m lane for westbound traffic between the wall and the island which, given 
the strong camber, would have brought buses dangerously close to the wall, lead to rutting (due to all 
vehicles using the same line) and cyclists directed through a narrow gap.  
 
As such it is considered that the current proposal successfully overcomes the objections raised 
previously, and the access arrangement would raise no highway safety issues, and is therefore 
acceptable.  
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE - Highgate report (dated Oct 2019, submitted on behalf of Paintworks 
Ltd) 
The Highgate report says that since the previous B8 use on the application site has been vacant for a 
number of years and the fact that a B8 use is a low trip attractor, the historic trip generation 
associated with the existing site access for discounting purposes is zero.  The report also states that 
the applicant's calculation of trip generation is flawed as it assumes that if the parking was increased 
then the trips would also increase, even if the spaces were unused.  The Highgate report states that 
the applicant's assessment does not account for the increased use of taxis by those residents who do 
not have a parking space.   TDM officers acknowledge the findings of the Highgate report, however, 
having assessed this, have found no reason to disagree with the applicant's approach.  It is also noted 
that the revised RSA submitted by the applicant in respect of the proposed lay-by raises no further 
objections from TDM officers.  
 
CAR PARKING 
 
The applicant has applied the car parking standards in the SADMP, which sets out a maximum 
standard of 1 space per 1 bed dwelling, 1.25 spaces per 2 bed dwelling and 1.5 spaces per 3 bed 
dwelling.  The maximum car parking spaces that could be provided in accordance with planning policy 
is 157.  This proposal includes 38.  10 of these would have Electric Vehicle Charging points. The 
Travel Plan sets out that the proposed level of parking is consistent with the Temple Quarter Spatial 
Framework car parking standards which urges parking restraint.  It also notes that the SADMP 
standards are expressed as maximum numbers, and the Transport officer has not raised any 
objections to this approach, stating that the site is in a very highly sustainable location.  In terms of 
parking on neighbouring streets, an advice note is included on the recommendation to prevent future 
residents being eligible form applying for car parking permits in the nearby Residents Parking 

Page 47



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

Scheme.  Car Club spaces are to be secured through s106 agreement.  
 
CYCLE PARKING 
 
The scheme would include 222 cycle parking spaces for occupants, as well as 24 visitor cycle spaces, 
which is in accordance with the adopted policy standard.  
 
TRAVEL PLAN 
 
The applicant has submitted a Travel Plan as part of the proposal. It is noted that the applicant has 
stated for the residential element of the Travel Plan that this will be undertaken and implemented by 
Bristol City Council. The applicant will need to pay an implementation fee of £15,696 based on £144 
per dwelling.  This will be secured by s106 agreement. 
 
CONCLUSION ON TRANSPORT MATTERS 
 
The amended layout showing a double bus lay-by would be the safest possible option of 
accommodating the access arrangements for this site, in view of the characteristics of Bath Road at 
this point.  The site is sustainably located and the level of car and cycle parking proposed is 
commensurate with the sustainable location, and in turn would encourage sustainable transport 
movements by future residents.  Servicing would take place within the site, and it has been 
satisfactorily demonstrated that refuse trucks can enter the site and manoeuvre out.  Conditions will 
secure the refuse, cycle parking and parking layouts.   The application is therefore acceptable on 
transport grounds.  
 
(G) WOULD THE PROPOSAL SAFEGUARD THE AMENITY OF EXISTING RESIDENTS IN THE 
AREA, AND OFFER A GOOD STANDARD OF ACCOMMODATION FOR FUTURE RESIDENTS? 
 
Good design and protection and enhancement of the environment are critical components of central 
government guidance, as identified in the NPPF. Adopted Bristol Core Strategy Policy BCS18 makes 
specific reference to residential developments providing sufficient space for everyday activities and to 
enable flexibility and adaptability by meeting the appropriate space standards. In addition, Policy 
BCS21 expects development to safeguard the amenity of existing developments and create a high-
quality environment for future occupiers. Furthermore, Core Strategy Policy BCS15 requires 
development to address issues of flexibility and adaptability, allowing future modification of use or 
layout, facilitating future refurbishment and retrofitting. 
 
DAYLIGHT AND SUNLIGHT 
 
The Building Research Establishment (BRE) provides guidance on daylight and sunlight, and applying 
the guidance ensures that new development is designed to provide good daylighting and sunlighting 
within the development itself, as well as protecting it at adjoining sites.  This scheme would introduce 
a new 4-6 storey block on a currently open site opposite the Paintworks development.  Phase IV of 
Paintworks has recently received planning permission and is directly opposite the site to the north.   
 
Concern has been raised with regard to the daylight and sunlight performance of the scheme as a 
result of the height, scale and massing, in particular the impact on existing development. The Urban 
Living SPD (UL SPD) provides guidance in Appendix B as to how this can be considered in a dense 
environment, and cites the BRE guidance on this topic.  
 
The following tests are used in the BRE assessment:  
 
(i) Vertical Sky Component (VSC) 
The VSC is a measure of light falling on a window, and the target for a good level of light is 27% - 
meaning a ratio of direct sky luminance falling on the surface of the window.  40% is the maximum 

Page 48



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

possible VSC score, and would mean that if one had a view from a window which was totally 
unobstructed by buildings, 40% of the total hemisphere would be visible.  If a development would 
reduce the VSC from a given window to less than 27%, AND to less than 0.8 times its former value, 
then according to the BRE guidelines it is likely that the loss of light would be harmful.   
 
(ii) No Sky Line (NSL) 
This test is also known as the "Daylight Distribution" method and looks at how daylight is distributed 
within a room.  If a development reduces the amount of daylight to less than 0.8 times its former 
value, the loss of light is likely to be noticeable.  There is no absolute minimum identified by the BRE 
guidelines however.   
 
(iii) Average Daylight Factor (ADF) 
This test measures the overall amount of diffuse daylight across a room and takes into account 
obstructions in the amount of sky visible through a window.  Acceptable ADF levels are 1% for a 
bedroom, 1.5% for a living room and 2% for a kitchen. 
 
(iv) Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) 
The BRE recommends that APSH received at a window should be at least 25% of the total available, 
and at least 5% in winter.  
 
The applicant's revised submission includes an assessment of the impact of the development on the 
Paintworks Phase IV development, this being the nearest residential building that is likely to be 
affected.  It concludes that that there is no major impact to Average Daylight Factor (ADF) or Vertical 
Sky Component (VSC) for residential units.  Three windows of the 250 tested, demonstrated a 'high 
magnitude' of change (when compared with existing light levels).  These all relate to the commercial 
unit on the ground floor, and not to residential flats, which officers use the BRE guidelines to protect.  
One commercial unit does not meet ADF targets, but again, commercial units are not generally 
afforded the same level of protection as residential uses in terms of daylight and sunlight amenity 
considerations.  Officers are satisfied that the design has appropriately responded to the issue of 
sunlight and daylight to neighbouring properties.  
 
In respect of lighting levels achieved in the proposed flats, the Daylight and Sunlight report indicates a 
90% pass rate of Living rooms/ Kitchen/Dining rooms (LKDs) based on the lower 1.5% ADF for 
kitchen spaces. Applying the higher 2% ADF for living rooms reduces the pass rate to 77%.  Annual 
Probable Sunshine Hours and Winter Probable Sunshine Hours have respective pass rates of 90% 
and 95%.  
 
From the above results, it is clear that a relatively good performance against the BRE guidance would 
be achieved.   This would score 'green' against the Urban Living SPD requirement to maximise 
opportunities for natural illumination of internal spaces, although the SPD also advises that living and 
kitchen areas should receive direct sunlight for at least part of the day.  Whilst this aspect has not 
been directly demonstrated in the application, it is not to say that this would not be achieved.  This is 
interpreted as an 'amber' score in the Urban Living scores.   
 
AMENITY SPACE 
 
The provision of private and communal space is welcomed, and it is noted that the DAS states the 
amount proposed is above the amount recommended by the UL SPD. The inclusion of informal play 
opportunities is also welcomed.  
The internal courtyard area is proposed to be over two levels, with a drop of 1 storey at the north end.  
It is acknowledged in the application that this space would receive limited hours of sunlight, with the 
northern section receiving the most sunlight.  Whilst this limits the potential for significant planting, the 
applicant has responded to this constraint and has demonstrated that it would be possible to use the 
space to provide a quality amenity space for the residents, including informal play space and some 
areas of planting.  A condition will secure further details of the types of species in this area, 

Page 49



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

acknowledging that plants that thrive in shade would be most suitable.   In addition, most of the units 
would be provided with private amenity space in the form of balconies or terraces.  
 
QUALITY OF ACCOMMODATION AND URBAN LIVING 
 
Most of the dwellings within the scheme would have a dual aspect, with 33 single aspect units in the 
scheme, 10 of which are north facing.  The proposed dwellings all comfortably meet the National 
Space Standards.  The DAS confirms that 10% of the units are to be M4(3) compliant (wheelchair 
adaptable), and this would meet with the requirements of policy DM14, which requires two percent of 
housing within residential developments of 50 or more dwellings to be either wheelchair accessible or 
wheelchair adaptable.   
 
The enclosed access balconies are acceptable in this instance because there a maximum of 6 units 
per corridor and natural light and ventilation is provided by windows.  Storage areas for bulky goods 
have provided in the basement, along with an area for bulky post located at the ground floor main 
entrance, addressing the Urban Living requirement for user-friendly, welcoming and easy to use 
internal spaces.  The flats themselves also have built in storage area, compliant with the National 
Space Standards.  As stated, most of the dwellings have access to a private balcony and the child 
yield requirement for 150sqm for play space has been incorporated within the central courtyard and 
grassed area.   
 
The courtyard is 19m across, and with the enclosed access lobbies, there would not be any harmful 
overlooking within the scheme.   
 
POLLUTION FROM NEARBY USES 
 
In view of the site's location on Bath Road and close to industrial uses in St Philips Principle Industrial 
and Warehousing Area on the north side of the river, details on how the future residents will be 
protected against pollution are required.  The application is supported by a noise assessment which 
measures environmental and industrial noise at four key locations across the existing site.  This 
concludes that the dominant noise source affecting the site is road traffic on Bath Road, with only low 
levels of noise observed from the industrial uses to the north of the River Avon.  Modelling has also 
been carried out to predict noise levels that would arise from the proposed lay-by, although it is 
concluded that this would not alter the typical maximum noise levels affecting the development.  The 
report gives details of facade sound insulation, and states that trickle vents would be used in windows 
and balcony doors to enhance the acoustic performance to allow internal noise levels to comply with 
the British Standard on noise ingress.  This is generally acceptable, with a fully detailed scheme of 
sound insulation required by condition.  
 
Overall the scheme performs well against Part 2 "Guidance for residential developments", of ULSPD 
and would provide a good standard of accommodation whilst safeguarding the amenity of nearby 
occupiers.   
 
(H) HOW DOES THE SCHEME RESPOND TO SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES? 
 
As embedded in the NPPF, sustainability should be integral to all new development, and should  
encourage opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from decentralised, renewable or 
low carbon energy supply systems.    BCS13 encourages developments to respond pro-actively to 
climate change, by incorporating measures to mitigate and adapt to it.   BCS14 sets out a heat 
hierarchy for new development, and an expectation that new development will connect to existing 
CHP/CCHP distribution networks.  The same policy also expects development to provide sufficient 
renewable energy generation to reduce carbon dioxide emissions from residual energy use in the 
buildings by at least 20%.  BCS15 requires developments to demonstrate through a Sustainability 
Statement how they have addressed energy efficiency; waste and recycling; conserving water; 
materials; facilitating future refurbishment and enhancement of biodiversity.  This policy also requires 

Page 50



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

a BREEAM Excellent score to be achieved for all major non-residential development. 
Bristol City Council's Climate Change and Sustainability Practice Note provides further advice on 
these matters. 
 
The application is supported by a Sustainability and Energy Report as well as an Overheating 
analysis. 
 
District Heat Connection and Heat Hierarchy 
The Heat Hierarchy in Policy BCS14 favours the use of large scale renewable and low-carbon energy 
installations.  It sets out that new development should demonstrate that heating and cooling systems 
should, in the first instance, connect to an existing CHP/CCHP distribution network in preference over 
individual systems.  Bristol City Council is developing a city-wide heat network and already has a 
network in place in some parts of the city.  This development lies within the heat priority area, and will 
therefore be designed to connect to the heat network, and the Energy Team have confirmed that 
there will be a Heat Network within the vicinity of the site.  The developer has agreed to the 
connection, however, it is not possible to secure this through s106 at this stage, as there is no likely 
date on which the development would need to be 'heat network ready'.  Instead, a condition requiring 
the details of a future connection is imposed.  A centralised boiler is proposed, and the Sustainable 
City Team has confirmed that this is acceptable in view of the fact that the installation of the heat 
network is not imminent.  The Heat Hierarchy in policy BCS14 is therefore considered to be met.   
 
Sustainable Design 
Policy requires developments to be designed to minimise their energy requirements, by incorporating 
enhanced building fabric, addressing air tightness and using high efficiency lighting.  The Sustainable 
City team initially raised a concern that the scheme did not demonstrate a reduction beyond Part L 
through Energy Efficiency measures.   This has subsequently been addressed and a reduction 
beyond Part L is now being achieved, and this is through enhanced airtightness in the dwellings to 
prevent drafts and air leakage, installation of g-value glazing and openable windows to control solar 
gain, insulated pipework, and installation of energy efficient lighting.  Smart controls in each dwelling 
would be provided to enable different temperature profiles within rooms.  
 
Renewable Energy  
The report sets out that the applicant explored a range of renewable energy measures, including 
biomass heating, ground source heat pumps, air source heat pumps (ASHP), photovoltaics (PV), 
solar thermal and wind.  The most suitable technologies were found to be PV panels, which would 
reduce the development's C02 emissions by 20.8%, therefore complying with policy BCS14. 
 
BREEAM 
The application is not supported by a BREEAM pre-assessment, whereas this is a requirement.  A 
condition is therefore included to require a BREEAM pre-assessment as well as final certification, to 
require an 'Excellent' score.   
 
With the exception of the absence of a BREEAM pre-assessment, overall the energy strategy and 
sustainability measures proposed by the development are good.  The development would comply with 
policies on building design, climate change and renewable energy, and would also be future-proofed 
to connect to the heat network which will be available in the area.   
 
(I) CONTAMINATION 
 
Policy DM34 relates to contaminated land and requires appropriate mitigation to be in place in the 
event of existing contaminated land.  The Desk Study and Ground Investigation Report prepared by T 
& P Regeneration dated October 2018 (Ref 18Oct_BTH2258_DSGI) has been reviewed by the 
Council's contamination officer.  Due to the presence of previous polluting uses on the site, conditions 
are recommended to require further investigation studies to be carried out, and for the submission of 
site remediation and verification schemes to be submitted for approval.   

Page 51



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
(J) SUDS/DRAINAGE 
 
The application includes a SUDS scheme, and the Council's flood team (LLFA) initially required more 
information on the existing drainage at the site, and queried where proposed drainage would 
discharge to.  The applicant has confirmed that a new sewer would be requisitioned with outfall to the 
watercourse north of the site.  The discharge rate and destination is to be agreed with LLFA and TDM, 
and further information, including details of any conditions, will be reported on this as necessary, at 
the committee meeting.  
 
(K) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 sets out the legislative background for 
securing planning obligations, and the NPPF sets out that planning obligations should only be used 
where they are necessary, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development.  BCS11 states that obligations or contributions secured by s106 
may be sought from any development that has an impact requiring mitigation, and that CIL is also 
required in accordance with the CIL regulations.   The Council adopted its own Planning Obligations 
SPD in 2012, which supports and provides additional guidance against the above legislation and 
policies.  
 
The following contributions and measures will be secured by s.106. 
 
Affordable Housing (amount to be confirmed) 
Travel Plan monitoring fee £15,696 
Car Club spaces to be secured 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The proposal before members is a result of a long history of negotiation and discussions between 
officers and the applicant.  The scheme is considered to present the optimum density for the site and 
is of a suitable design, with a proportionate amount of landscaped public and semi-private open 
space.  The transport implications have been adequately addressed, and the scheme meets with 
sustainability policies.  The site is sustainably located, and the delivery of this scheme would include a 
proportion of affordable housing and would complete the site allocation in the Local Plan.   
Planning permission is therefore recommended, subject to conditions, s106 and affordable housing 
which members will be updated on prior to the committee meeting. 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 
 
The CIL liability for this development is  £876,146.79, however social housing relief may be claimed 
on those residential dwellings included in the development that are to be managed by a Housing 
Association for the provision of affordable housing. 
 
EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 
 
During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the impact of this scheme in 
relation to the Equalities Act 2010 in terms of its impact upon key equalities protected characteristics. 
These characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. There is no indication or 
evidence (including from consultation with relevant groups) that different groups have or would have 
different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation this particular proposed development. 
Overall, it is considered that this application would not have any significant adverse impact upon 
different groups or implications for the Equality Act 2010. 
 

Page 52



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

RECOMMENDED GRANT subject to Planning Agreement 
 
Time limit for commencement of development 
 
 1. Full Planning Permission 
  
 The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended 

by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
Pre commencement condition(s) 
 
 2. Protection of Retained Trees During the Construction Period 
  
 No work of any kind shall take place on the site until protective fences have been erected 

around the retained trees.  The Local Planning Authority shall be given not less than two 
weeks prior written notice by the developer of the commencement of works on the site in order 
that the council may verify in writing that the tree protection measures are in place when the 
work commences.  The fences shall be in place before any equipment, machinery or materials 
are brought on to the site for the purposes of the development and shall be maintained until all 
equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.  Within the 
fenced areas there shall be no scaffolding, no stockpiling of any materials or soil, no 
machinery or other equipment parked or operated, no traffic over the root system, no changes 
to the soil level, no excavation of trenches, no site huts, no fires lit, no dumping of toxic 
chemicals and no retained trees shall be used for winching purposes.  If any retained tree is 
removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be planted at the same place and 
that tree shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be 
specified in writing by the council. 

  
 Reason:  To protect the retained trees from damage during construction, including all ground 

works and works that may be required by other conditions, and in recognition of the 
contribution which the retained trees give and will continue to give to the amenity of the area. 

 
 3. Further details before relevant element started 
  
 Notwithstanding the information shown in the Design Intent Document revB, detailed drawings 

an appropriate scale of the following shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before the relevant part of work is begun. The detail thereby 
approved shall be carried out in accordance with that approval. 

  
 a) Junctions at parapet level 
 b)       Window reveal depths 
 c)       Junctions between materials 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and the character of the area. 
 
 4. Sample Panels before specified elements started 
  
 Notwithstanding the information shown in the Design Intent Document revB, sample panels of 

the bricks (to include mortar type), all types of cladding, window frames, rubble stone wall and 
roof cladding material; demonstrating the colour, texture, face bond and pointing are to be 
erected on site and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the relevant 

Page 53



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

parts of the work are commenced. The development shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved details before the building is occupied. 

  
 Reason: In order that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. 
 
 5. Energy and Sustainability in accordance 
  
 The development hereby approved shall incorporate the energy efficiency measures, 

renewable energy, sustainable design principles and climate change adaptation measures into 
the design and construction of the development in full accordance with the Energy and 
Sustainability Statement (by AES Sustainability Consultants Ltd, submitted June 2021) prior to 
occupation or use commenced. A total 1.02% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions beyond 
Part L 2013 Building Regulations in line with the energy hierarchy shall be achieved, and a 
20.8% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions below residual emissions through renewable 
technologies shall be achieved 

  
 Reason 
 To ensure the development incorporates measures to minimise the effects of, and can adapt 

to a changing climate. 
 
 6. Details of Photovoltaics (PV) 
  
 1) Prior to commencement, details of the proposed PV system including location, dimensions, 

design/ technical specification together with calculation of annual energy generation 
(kWh/annum) and associated reduction in residual CO2 emissions shall be provided within the 
Energy Statement.   

  
 2) Prior to occupation the following information shall be provided: 
 - Evidence of the PV system as installed including exact location, technical specification and 

projected annual energy yield (kWh/year) e.g. a copy of the MCS installer's certificate.  
 - A calculation showing that the projected annual yield of the installed system is sufficient to 

reduce residual CO2 emissions by the percentage shown in the approved Energy Statement.  
  
 Reason 
 To ensure that the development contributes to mitigating and adapting to climate change and 

to meeting targets to reduce carbon dioxide emissions. 
 
 7. Heat Networks - Future proofing 
  
 Prior to commencement, detail demonstrating proposed measures to future-proof the 

development for connection to a future district heat network shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed and 
thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the development contributes to minimising the effects of, and can adapt to 

a changing climate. 
 
 8. Land affected by contamination - Submission of Remediation Scheme  
  
 No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 

condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment has been prepared, 
submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site 

Page 54



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination is understood prior to works on site both 

during the construction phase to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
 9. Land affected by contamination - Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme  
  
 In the event that contamination is found, no development other than that required to be carried 

out as part of an approved scheme of remediation shall take place until the approved 
remediation scheme has been carried out in accordance with its terms. The Local Planning 
Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation 
scheme works.  

  
 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 

verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be 
produced, and be approved in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination both during the construction phase and 

to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can 
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
10. Highway works - General arrangement plan 
  
 Notwithstanding the information shown on drawing reference 800.0005.010 rev B, no 

development shall take place until general arrangement plans to a scale of 1:200 showing the 
following works (as shown in principle in Drawing 800.0005.010 Rev B) to the adopted 
highway, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 - Reconstruction of the footway along the site frontage (including highway dedication) 
 - Construction of a new bus layby with bus shelter 
 - Construction of a new priority junction in to the site with associated changes to the ghost 

islands 
 - Provision of a median island 
 - Continuation of cycle lane 
 - Diversion or lowering of services as required to accommodate the new layout 
  
 Where applicable indicating proposals for: 
  
 o Existing levels of the finished highway tying into building threshold levels  
 o Alterations to waiting restrictions or other Traffic Regulation Orders to enable the works 
 o Signing, street furniture, street trees and pits 
 o Structures on or adjacent to the highway 
 o Extent of any stopping up, diversion or dedication of new highway (including all public 

rights of way shown on the definitive map and statement) 
  
 No development shall take place over the route of any public right of way prior to the 

confirmation of a Town & Country Planning Act 1990 path diversion/stopping up order. 
  

Page 55



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 Prior to occupation these works shall be completed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of public safety and to ensure that all road works associated with the 

proposed development are: planned; approved in good time (including any statutory 
processes); undertaken to a standard approved by the Local Planning Authority and are 
completed before occupation. 

 
11. Land affected by contamination - Site Characterisation  
  
 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any 

assessment provided with the planning application, and has been completed in accordance 
with a scheme to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or 
not it originates on the site. The contents of the scheme should be submitted to and be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment 
must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. The report of the findings must include:  

  
 (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
  
 (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
 * human health,  
 * property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 

service lines and pipes,  
 * adjoining land,  
 * groundwaters and surface waters,  
 * ecological systems,  
 * archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
  
 (iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).  
  
 This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.  
  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination is understood prior to works on site both 

during the construction phase to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors 

 
12. Construction Management Plan  
  
 No development shall take place, including any demolition works, until a construction 

management plan or construction method statement has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan/statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the demolition/construction period. The plan/statement shall provide for: 

  
 o 24 hour emergency contact number; 
 o Hours of operation; 
 o Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure 

satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties during 
construction); 

 o Routes for construction traffic; 
 o Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials; 

Page 56



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 o Method of preventing mud being carried onto the highway; 
 o Measures to protect vulnerable road users (cyclists and pedestrians)  
 o Any necessary temporary traffic management measures; 
 o Arrangements for turning vehicles; 
 o Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles; 
 o Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and 

neighbouring residents and businesses. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into development 

both during the demolition and construction phase of the development. 
 
13. BREEAM pre-assessment 
  
 1) Prior to commencement, evidence that the development is registered with a BREEAM 

certification body, and a BREEAM pre-assessment demonstrating a strategy by which a 
BREEAM 'Excellent' rating will be achieved, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
and approved in writing.  

  
 2) Prior to occupation, final post construction BREEAM certificates indicating that the BREEAM 

'Excellent' rating has been achieved shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and 
approved in writing. 

  
 Reason 
 To ensure that the development achieves BREEAM rating level (or any such equivalent 

national measure of sustainability for building design which replaces that scheme) and that this 
is done early enough in the process to allow adaptions to designs and assessment and 
certification shall be carried out by a licensed BREEAM assessor and to ensure that the 
development contributes to mitigating and adapting to climate change. 

 
14. Sound Insulation - Submission of scheme and retention thereafter 
  
 No development shall take place until a detailed scheme of noise insulation measures for the 

residential units hereby approved has been submitted to and been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The scheme of noise insulation measures shall be prepared by a 
suitably qualified consultant/engineer and shall take into account the provisions of BS 8233: 
2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented prior to the commencement of the use and be permanently retained 
thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining residential occupiers and the details 

are needed prior to the start of work so that measures can be incorporated into the build. 
 
15. Construction Environmental Management Plan 
  
 No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 

(CEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 This shall include best practice pollution control measures to ensure that adverse impacts 

(including dust and air pollution, effects on water quality, pollution from fuel use and storage 
and other potentially hazardous materials) do not occur on human receptors, nearby 
businesses as a result of construction works.  The CEMP should include details of robust 
protective fencing incorporating warning signs.   The approved plan shall be implemented and 
adhered to thereafter at all times during construction. 

  
 Reason: To protect nearby residents and businesses from nuisance arising from dust and air 

pollution. 

Page 57



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 
Pre occupation condition(s) 
 
16. Implementation/Installation of Refuse Storage and Recycling Facilities – Shown on Approved 

Plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the refuse 

store and area/facilities allocated for storing of recyclable materials, as shown on the approved 
plans have been completed in accordance with the approved plans. 

  
 Thereafter, all refuse and recyclable materials associated with the development shall either be 

stored within this dedicated store/area, as shown on the approved plans, or internally within 
the building(s) that form part of the application site. No refuse or recycling material shall be 
stored or placed for collection on the adopted highway (including the footway), except on the 
day of collection. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining premises; protect the general 

environment; prevent any obstruction to pedestrian movement and to ensure that there are 
adequate facilities for the storage and recycling of recoverable materials. 

 
17. Completion of Vehicular Access - Shown on Approved Plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the means of 

vehicular access has been constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans 
and the said means of vehicular access shall thereafter be retained for access purposes only 
for the lifetime of the development. Any access point opening onto the adopted highway shall 
include suitable drainage provision within the curtilage of the site, to prevent the discharge of 
any surface water onto the adopted highway. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the vehicular access point is safe and includes adequate drainage. 
 
18. Completion and Maintenance of Vehicular Servicing facilities - Shown on approved plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the facilities for 

loading, unloading, circulation and manoeuvring have been completed in accordance with the 
approved plans.  Thereafter, these areas shall be kept free of obstruction and available for 
these uses. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that there are adequate servicing facilities within the site in the interests of 

highway safety. 
 
19. Completion and Maintenance of Car/Vehicle Parking - Shown on Approved Plans  
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the car/vehicle 

parking area (and turning space) shown on the approved plans has been completed and 
thereafter the area shall be kept free of obstruction and available for the parking of vehicles 
associated with the development. Driveways/vehicle parking areas accessed from the adopted 
highway must be properly consolidated and surfaced, (not loose stone, gravel or grasscrete) 
and subsequently maintained in good working order at all times thereafter for the lifetime of the 
development. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that there are adequate parking facilities to serve the development 

constructed to an acceptable standard. 
 
 

Page 58



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

20. Completion and Maintenance of Cycle Provision - Shown on approved plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or the use commenced until the cycle 

parking provision shown on the approved plans has been completed, and thereafter, be kept 
free of obstruction and available for the parking of cycles only. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the provision and availability of adequate cycle parking. 
 
21. Electric Vehicle Charging Points  
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until details of the 

total number of car parking spaces, the number/type/location/means of operation and a 
programme for the installation and maintenance of Electric Vehicle Charging Points and points 
of passive provision for the integration of future charging points has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction of the above ground 
works. The Electric Vehicle Charging Points as approved shall be installed prior to occupation 
and retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 

  
 Reason: To promote sustainable travel, aid in the reduction of air pollution levels and help 

mitigate climate change. 
 
22. Land affected by contamination - Reporting of Unexpected Contamination  
  
 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of Condition  and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Condition ****, 
which is to be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 

report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with condition ****.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
23. Submission and Approval of Landscaping Scheme 
  
 Notwithstanding the details on the Streetscape Landscape Strategy (drawings reference 

edp5119_d003k), no building or use herby permitted shall be occupied or the use commenced 
until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a 
scheme of hard and soft landscaping, which shall include indications of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land, and details of any to be retained, together with measures for their 
protection, in the course of development.  The approved scheme shall be implemented so that 
planting is carried out no later than the first planting season following the occupation of the 
buildings or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.  All planted materials 
shall be maintained for five years and any trees or plants removed, dying, being damaged or 
becoming diseased within that period shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted unless the council gives 
written consent to any variation. 

  

Page 59



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 Reason: To protect and enhance the character of the site and the area, and to ensure its 
appearance is satisfactory. 

 
24. Electric Vehicle Charging Points  
   
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until details of the 

total number of car parking spaces, the number/type/location/means of operation and a 
programme for the installation and maintenance of Electric Vehicle Charging Points and points 
of passive provision for integration of future charging points has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction of the above ground 
works. The Electric Vehicle Charging Points as approved shall be installed prior to occupation 
and retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 

   
 Reason: To promote sustainable travel, aid in the reduction of air pollution levels and help 

mitigate against climate change. 
 
Post occupation management 
 
25. Hours of operation of commercial unit 
  
 The use of the commercial unit shall not be carried out outside the hours of 8am to 7pm 

Monday to Saturday and on Sunday 10am to 4pm. 
  
 Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of nearby occupiers. 
 
26. Travel Plan - Implemented by the Highways Authority 
  
 Prior to occupation or use commenced, evidence that the pre-occupation elements of the 

approved Travel Plan have been put in place shall be prepared, submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 The developer shall then enable the Highways Authority to implement, monitor and review the 

approved Travel Plan to the satisfaction of Local Planning Authority unless agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To support sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single occupancy 

car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking and cycling. 
 
27. Use of Refuse and recycling facilities 
  
 Activities relating to the collection of refuse and recyclables and the tipping of empty bottles 

into external receptacles shall only take place between 08.00 and 20.00 Monday to Saturday 
and not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby occupiers 
 
28. Protection of parking and servicing provision 
  
 The areas allocated for vehicle parking, loading and unloading, circulation and manoeuvring 

on the approved plans shall only be used for the said purpose and not for any other purposes. 
  
 Reason: To ensure the provision and availability of satisfactory off-street parking and 

servicing/loading/unloading facilities for the development. 
 
 

Page 60



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

29. Use Class Limitation 
  
 No individual unit falling within a retail use shall exceed 200sqm, unless otherwise agreed in 

writing by the LPA. 
  
 Reason: To ensure any retail use remains as small scale and ancillary to the development, 

and to avoid creating a standalone destination, in view of the site's location outside of a 
designated centre.   

 
List of approved plans 
 
30. List of approved plans and drawings 
  
 The development shall conform in all aspects with the plans and details shown in the 

application as listed below, unless variations are agreed by the Local Planning Authority in 
order to discharge other conditions attached to this decision. 

   
 A706/1056/1 Topographical survey, received 13 August 2019 
 4176-203-A Block plan, received 13 August 2019 
 208 V Proposed -2 lower ground floor plan, received 21 October 2021 
 210 W Proposed ground floor plan, received 20 October 2021 
 211 V Proposed first floor plan, received 20 October 2021 
 212 T Proposed second floor plan, received 20 October 2021 
 213 T Proposed Third floor plan, received 20 October 2021 
 214 T Proposed fourth floor plan, received 20 October 2021 
 215 S Proposed fifth floor, received 20 October 2021 
 217 D Proposed roof plan, received 20 October 2021 
 225 G Courtyard west and south elevation, received 20 October 2021 
 218 K Proposed south elevation, received 20 October 2021 
 220 K Proposed north elevation, received 20 October 2021 
 219 L Proposed west elevation, received 20 October 2021 
 224 G Courtyard east and north elevation, received 20 October 2021 
 221 L Proposed East elevation, received 20 October 2021 
 4176-201-A Location Plan, received 13 August 2019 
 800.0005.010 Rev B Highways General Arrangement, received 22 July 2021 
 
  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

Advices 
  
 1  Alterations to Vehicular Access 
  
 The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of alterations to vehicular 

access(s). You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you will 
require a Section 184 Licence from the Highway Authority which is available at 
www.bristol.gov.uk/highwaylicences  

  
 The works shall be to the specification and constructed to the satisfaction of the Highways 

Authority. You will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils costs in undertaking the 
approval and inspection of the works. 

  
 2  Works on the Public Highway 
  
 The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted highway. 

You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you must enter into a 

Page 61



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the council, which would 
specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to be carried out.  

  
 Contact the Highway Authority's Transport Development Management Team at 

transportDM@bristol.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the preparation and signing of the 
Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the council's costs in undertaking the 
following actions: 

  
 I. Drafting the Agreement 
 II. A Monitoring Fee equivalent to 15% of the planning application fee 
 III. Approving the highway details 
 IV. Inspecting the highway works 
  
 NB: Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement 

under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and the 
Highway Authority's technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings will be 
considered and approved. 

  
 3  Street Name and Numbering 
  
 You are advised that to ensure that all new properties and streets are registered with the 

emergency services, Land Registry, National Street Gazetteer and National Land and Property 
Gazetteer to enable them to be serviced and allow the occupants access to amenities 
including but not limited to; listing on the Electoral Register, delivery services, and a registered 
address on utility companies databases, details of the name and numbering of any new 
house(s) and/or flats/flat conversion(s) on existing and/or newly constructed streets must be 
submitted to the Highway Authority. 

  
 Any new street(s) and property naming/numbering must be agreed in accordance with the 

Councils Street Naming and Property Numbering Policy and all address allocations can only 
be issued under the Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 (Section 64 & 65) and the Public 
Health Act 1925 (Section 17, 18 & 19). Please see www.bristol.gov.uk/registeraddress 

  
 4  Excavation Works on the Adopted Highway 
  
 The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of excavation works on the 

adopted highway. You are advised that before undertaking any work on the adopted highway 
you will require a Section 171 (Excavation) Licence from the Highway Authority which is 
available at www.bristol.gov.uk/highwaylicences 

  
 5  Restriction of Parking Permits - Future Controlled Parking Zone/Residents Parking Scheme 
  
 You are advised that the Local Planning Authority has recommended to the Highways 

Authority that on the creation of any Controlled Parking Zone/Residents Parking Scheme area 
which includes the development, that the development shall be treated as car free / low-car 
and the occupiers are ineligible for resident parking permits as well as visitors parking permits 
if in a Residents Parking Scheme. 

  
 6  Application for advertisement consent needed: You are reminded of the need to obtain 

separate consent under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 
Regulations 1992 for any advertisements requiring express consent which you may wish to 
display on these premises. 

  
 
 

Page 62



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 7  Construction site noise: Due to the proximity of existing noise sensitive development and the 
potential for disturbance arising from contractors' operations, the developers' attention is 
drawn to Section 60 and 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974, to BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2: 
2009 Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites code of practice for basic 
information and procedures for noise and vibration control" and the code of practice adopted 
by Bristol City Council with regard to "Construction Noise Control".  Information in this respect 
can be obtained from Pollution Control, City Hall, Bristol City Council, PO Box 3176, Bristol 
BS3 9FS. 

  
 8  Sound insulation/acoustic reports 
  
 The recommended design criteria for dwellings are as follows: 
  
 * Daytime (07.00 - 23.00) 35 dB LAeq 16 hours in all rooms & 50 dB in outdoor living areas. 
 * Nightime (23.00 - 07.00) 30 dB LAeq 8 hours & LAmax less than 45 dB in bedrooms. 
  
 Where residential properties are likely to be affected by amplified music from neighbouring 

pubs or clubs, the recommended design criteria is as follows: 
  
 * Noise Rating Curve NR20 at all times in any habitable rooms. 
  
 9  Tree Protection: You are advised to refer to BS5837 : 2012 Trees in relation to construction 

for detailed information on types of tree protection, protection zones and other relevant 
matters. 

  
10  Impact on the highway network during construction 
  
 The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is likely to 

impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and any demolition 
required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities Network Management Team at 
traffic@bristol.gov.uk before undertaking any work, to discuss any temporary traffic 
management measures required, such as footway, Public Right of Way, carriageway closures 
or temporary parking restrictions a minimum of eight weeks prior to any activity on site to 
enable Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders to be prepared and a programme of Temporary 
Traffic Management measures to be agreed. 

  
11  Please note that this planning application has been assessed against current planning 

legislation only. The applicant (or any subsequent owner or developer) is therefore reminded 
that the onus of responsibility to ensure the proposed cladding installation meets current fire 
safety regulations lies fully with them and that they are legally obliged to apply for the relevant 
Building Regulations. 

  
12  PV System 
  
 The projected annual yield and technical details of the installed system will be provided by the 

Micro-generation Certification Scheme (MCS) approved installer.  
  
 The impact of shading on the annual yield of the installed PV system (the Shading Factor) 

should be calculated by an MCS approved installer using the Standard Estimation Method 
presented in the MCS guidance. 

  
13  District Heating future-proofed connection 
  
 Details to demonstrate how a development has been future-proofed to connect to a heat 

network should include: 

Page 63



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee A – 3 November 2021 
Application No. 19/03940/F : 345 Bath Road  Bristol BS4 3EW   
 

  

 o Provision of a single plant room, located adjacent to the planned (or if not planned, 
likely) heat network route, producing all hot water via a communal heating system, including 
engineering measures to facilitate the connection of an interfacing heat exchanger; 

 o The design of space heating and domestic hot water services systems in order to 
achieve consistently low return temperatures in line with the CIBSE: Heat Networks Code of 
Practice for the UK (or other future replacement standard) 

 o Space identified for the heat exchanger; 
 o Provisions made in the building fabric such as soft-points in the building walls to allow 

pipes to be routed through from the outside to a later date; and 
 o External (where detail is available) and internal district heat pipework routes identified 

and safeguarded. 
 o Provision for monitoring equipment as specified by the DH provider. 
 o Provision of contact details of the person(s) responsible for the development's energy 

provision for the purpose of engagement over future connection to a network. 
  
 
 
commdelgranted 

V1.0211 

 

 

 

Page 64



Supporting Documents 
 

 
1. 345 Bath Road 
 

 
 

1. Design Intent Document 
2. South Elevation 
3. North Elevation 
4. East Elevation 
5. West Elevation 
6. Ground Floor 
7. First Floor 
8. Lower Ground -2 
9. Lower Ground -1 
10. Fifth Floor 

Page 65



 1 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

Design Intent Document 

Oct 2021 - Rev B 
4176, Land at Bath Road, Bristol 

P
age 66



 2 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

SOUTH ELEVATION 

Design Intent Document 

1.  COLOURED PANNELING 

2.  BRICK INSET PANNELING 3.  RUBBLE STONE 4.  RED BRICK 5.  RED/ORANGE BRICK 6.  THROUGH COLOURED RENDER 7.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 

1 

2 

3 

4 

4 

5 

6 7 

5 

P
age 67



 3 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

WEST ELEVATION 

Design Intent Document 

2.  TIMBER EFFECT PANNELING 

3.  BRICK INSET PANNELING 4.  RUBBLE STONE 5.  RED BRICK 6.  YELLOW / RED BRICK 7.  METAL CLADDING 8.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 

1 

2 

4 

5 
6 

7 1.  COLOURED PANNELING 

3 

8 

P
age 68



 4 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

NORTH ELEVATION 

Design Intent Document 

1.  BRICK INSET PANNELING 3.  RED BRICK 4.  YELLOW / RED BRICK 5.  THROUGH COLOURED RENDER 6.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 

1 

2 

4 

5 

6 

2.  COLOURED PANNELING 

3 

P
age 69



 5 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

EAST ELEVATION 

Design Intent Document 

1.  COLOURED PANNELING 

4.  BRICK PANNELING 5.  YELLOW / RED BRICK 6.  RED BRICK 7.  RED/ORANGE BRICK 8.  THROUGH COLOURED RENDER 9.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 

1 

2 

3 

4 
5 

8 

6 

9 

2.  TIMBER EFFECT PANNELING 

3.  THROUGH COLOURED RENDER 

7 

P
age 70



 6 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

Design Intent Document 

PROPOSED PLANTERS & THRESHOLD DETAIL 

 Planters are to be constructed in rubble stone, dividing 

walls will be rendered with a soldier course of brick to 

match the proposed building.  

The above image represents the front access 

arrangements to maisonette units along the west 

elevation. This detail & finish is to be consistent across 

the site. 

VIEW ALONG THE WEST ELEVATION 

3.  YELLOW / RED BRICK 4.  THROUGH COLOURED RENDER 5.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 2.  RUBBLE STONE 1.  TIMBER EFFECT PANNELING 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

P
age 71



 7 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

AXONOMETRIC VIEW OF THE ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS FOR A TYPLCAL MAISONETTE UNIT (EAST AND WEST ELEVATION) 

Design Intent Document 

1.  RED/YELLOW BRICK 

2.  RENDER 

3.  TIMBER EFFECT PANELLING  

4.  STONE  

5.  PAVING 

1 

2 3 

4 
5 

P
age 72



 8 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

VIEW ALONG THE SOUTH ELEVATION 

Design Intent Document 

1.  RED/ORANGE BRICK 

2.  RED BRICK 

3.  BRICK INSET  PANELLING 

4.  COLOURED PANELLING  

5.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

P
age 73



 9 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

VIEW ALONG THE NORTH ELEVATION 

Design Intent Document 

1 

2 

3 

2.  RED BRICK 

1.  YELLOW / RED BRICK 

3.  BLACKENED METAL BALUSTRADE 

P
age 74



 10 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

TYPICAL SECTION THOUGH MAISONETTE UNITS WITH 

PLANTING DETAIL IN THE BACKGROUND 

Design Intent Document 

P
age 75



 11 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

 

TYPLCAL THRESHOLD DETAIL  

Design Intent Document 

P
age 76



 12 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

Design Intent Document 

P
age 77



 13 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

Design Intent Document 

FRONT ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS 

It is proposed that the front rubble stone wall will be 1500mm high. This will 

maintain privacy to ground floor units whilst maintaining views to planting above. 

Please refer EDP’s drawings for details. 

SOUTH ELEVATION 

P
age 78



 14 

Design Intent Document (Oct 2021)  

4176—Bath Road, Bristol 

Design Intent Document 

SECTION THROUGH THE FRONT WALL AND BATH ROAD 

P
age 79



Land at 345 Bath Road, Brislington
South Elevation

October 2021
4176_218K
Varies@A1

Long Elevation (Along Bath Road) 1:500

Paintworks Phase 4 (with Tower) in Background Paintworks Phase 3 in Background

Arnos Vale Cemetery

Existing Shops on Bath Road

Paintworks

Deco Building

Proposed 345 Bath Road

Majestic Wine

P
age 80



Land at 345 Bath Road, Brislington
North Elevation

September 2021
4176_220K
Varies@A1

Long Elevation (River Front) 1:500

Paintworks Phase 3 Paintworks Phase 4 Paintworks

Proposed 345 Bath Road Development

Art Deco Building

Phase 4 Tower 

P
age 81



Land at 345 Bath Road, Brislington
East Elevations

October 2021
4176_221L

Varies@A1

Street Elevation (Long Elevation 1:500)

Arnos Vale Cemetery

Proposed 345 Bath Road Development

Paintworks Phase 4

Paintworks Phase 3

Bath Road

Long Elevation 1:500

P
age 82



Land at 345 Bath Road, Brislington
West Elevations

October 2021
4176_219L
Varies@A1

Long Section (River Avon to Arnos Vale Cemetery) 1:500

Paintworks Phase 3 Paintworks Phase 4

Bath Road

Proposed 345 Development

Arnos Vale Cemetery 

River Avon

P
age 83



Existing Vehicle Access

SVP

SVP

Balcony

defensible space

defensible space

Open Space

Main
Entrance

Vi
sit

or
 c

yc
le

 p
ar

ki
ng

Po
st

 B
ox

es

Void over
open space

OV

Lobby

Stair
Core

Lift

SR

SR

AOV

SR

SR

Stair
Core

Lift

AOVSR

SR

Lobby

Balcony

Balcony

Stair
Core

Lift

Lobby

Lobby

SR

SR
AOV

AOV

AOV

Stair
Core

Lift

10
FF

11
FF

23
FF

24
FF

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

SR

SR

Lobby

Lobby

defensible space

SRSR

Bath Road

Majestic
Wine

Planning
Approved
Office
Building

Planning
Approved
Paintworks
Phase IV

Paintworks Phase 3

Landscaped
Area

Landscaped
Area

Existing
Bus Stop

Existing pavement to be widened

Ex
ist

in
g 

bo
un

da
ry

 st
on

e 
w

al
l

Fo
ot

pa
th

Footpath

Footpath

Fo
ot

pa
th

Fo
ot

pa
th

Visitor Parking

Landscaped Area

Balcony

Fo
ot

pa
th

Proposed lay-by

New Bus Stop

Proposed building set back

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Balcony

Balcony

Canopy for
Part M4(3)
Access

Ba
lc

on
y

Proposed building in line with existing

Scale

m1 2 4 6

Project

Drawn Creation

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©
Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing

All construction information should be taken from figured dimensions only
Discrepancies must be reported to the Architect before proceeding

Size

Drawing RevStage

N

Rev Date Details

Check

Status

4176 3 210 W PLANNING

1:100 A0 P

345 Bath Road
Brislington, Bristol

Floor Plans
0: Ground Floor

EF MB 23.06.2021
Page 84



SVP

SVP

OV

Lobby

Stair
Core

Lift

SR

SR

AOV

SR

SR

OV

Stair
Core

Lift

AOVSR

SR

Lobby

Balcony

OV

Stair
Core

Lift

Lobby

Lobby

Lobby

Lobby

Lobby

Lobby

Balcony

SR

SR
AOV

AOV

AOV

Stair
Core

Lift

50

51
GF

52
GF

53
GF

54
GF

55
GF

56
GF

77

76

75

74

73

72
GF

71
GF

69
GF

68
GF

67
GF

66

65

64

63

62

61

Ro
of

Te
rr

ac
e

SR

SR

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Balcony

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

70
GF

59

60

58

57

Balcony

47

48

49

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Proposed building set back

Proposed building in line with existing

Scale

m1 2 4 6

Project

Drawn Creation

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©
Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing

All construction information should be taken from figured dimensions only
Discrepancies must be reported to the Architect before proceeding

Size

Drawing RevStage

N

Rev Date Details

Check

Status

4176 3 211 V PLANNING

1:100 A0 P

345 Bath Road
Brislington, Bristol

Floor Plans
1: First Floor

EF MB 23.06.2021
Page 85



WPD Sub
Station

LV
 Switchroom

Fire
fighting
switchrmCentral Boiler

Plant - 4m
 High!!

W
ater Booster

and sprinkler
tank - 4m

 High

Cycle Rack - 20 Spaces

Cycle Rack - 20 Spaces

Cycle Rack - 20 Spaces

Cycle Rack - 20 Spaces

Cycle Rack - 20 Spaces

Fire Fighting

Generator

T1

T6

T4

308 sqm
Commercial Units

Vi
sit

or
 c

yc
le

pa
rk

in
g

Turning Head

100 Cycle spaces

Escape Stair / Entrance

Large/buggy store

Escape Stair / Entrance

Lobby

Bin Store

Lobby

Bin Hard Standing

Bin Store

1 14

1520

21

24

25

 Footpath

Patio

36

Lobby

20 Cycle spaces

Lobby

15 Cycle
spaces

Lobby

15 Cycle
spaces

15 Cycle
spaces

15 Cycle
spaces

Gas meter
room

Fo
ot

pa
th

Patio

Patio

Patio

 Footpath

 Footpath

 Footpath

Ra
ise

d 
be

ds
Ra

ise
d 

be
ds

Ra
ise

d 
be

ds
Ra

ise
d 

be
ds

Ra
ise

d 
be

ds

 F
oo

tp
at

h

Landscaped
area

Landscaped
area

Landscaped
area

Landscaped
area

Landscaped
area

Stair
Core

Lift

Lobby

SR

SR

AOV

AOV

Stair
Core

Lift

01
GF

02
GF

03
GF

04
GF

05

06

07

08
GF

09
GF

Patio

Patio

Patio

Ra
ise

d 
be

ds
Ra

ise
d 

be
ds

Ra
ise

d 
be

ds

Lift

Raised beds

Planning
Approved
Office
Building

Planning
Approved
Paintworks
Phase IV

Paintworks Phase 3

Footpath

Footpath

Fo
ot

pa
th

Visitor Parking

Landscaped Area

Landscaped area

LiftSR

Balcony

Balcony

Balcony

Canopy for
Part M4(3)
Access

Scale

m1 2 4 6

Project

Drawn Creation

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©
Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing

All construction information should be taken from figured dimensions only
Discrepancies must be reported to the Architect before proceeding

Size

Drawing RevStage

N

Rev Date Details

Check

Status

4176 3 208 V PLANNING

1:100 A0 P

345 Bath Road
Brislington, Bristol

Floor Plans
-2 Lower Ground Floor

EF MB 23.06.2021
Page 86



Central Boiler
Plant - 4m

 High!!

W
ater Booster

and sprinkler
tank - 4m

 High

Void over car park

Bin Store

Void

OV

OV

Bin Store

Open Space

 Footpath

Patio

Patio

 Footpath

defensible space

defensible space

defensib
le sp

ace

Patio

Patio

Access to stair
and bin store

Landscaped
area

Pe
rim

et
er

  F
oo

tp
at

h

Patios
stepping
down the
site

La
nd

sc
ap

ed
 a

re
a 

ou
ts

id
e 

of
sit

e 
bo

un
da

ry

Ex
ist

in
g 

bo
un

da
ry

 w
al

l

Lobby

Lobby

Lobby

AOV

Lift

SR

SR
AOV

AOV

Stair
Core

Lift

10
GF

11
GF

01
FF

02
FF

03
FF

04
FF

08
FF

09
FF

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

23
GF

24
GF

21

22

SR

SR

Fo
ot

pa
th

Lift

Stair Core
Access/ Escape

SR

Planning
Approved
Office
Building

Planning
Approved
Paintworks
Phase IV

Paintworks Phase 3

Footpath

Footpath

Fo
ot

pa
th

Visitor Parking

Landscaped Area

Stair Core

Access/ Escape

Lift

SR

SR

SR

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Ba
lc

on
y

Balcony

Balcony

Scale

m1 2 4 6

Project

Drawn Creation

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©
Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing

All construction information should be taken from figured dimensions only
Discrepancies must be reported to the Architect before proceeding

Size

Drawing RevStage

N

Rev Date Details

Check

Status

4176 3 209 W PLANNING

1:100 A0 P

345 Bath Road
Brislington, Bristol

Floor Plans
-1: Lower Ground Floor

EF MB 23.06.2021
Page 87



SVP

SVP

OV

Lobby

Stair
Core

Lift

SR

SR

AOV

SR

SR

SR

Balcony

109

108

107

106 AOV

Lift
Shaft

Ba
lc

on
y

BalconyBalcony

Flat
Roof

Flat
Roof

Proposed building set back

Proposed building in line with existing

Scale

m1 2 4 6

Project

Drawn Creation

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©
Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from this drawing

All construction information should be taken from figured dimensions only
Discrepancies must be reported to the Architect before proceeding

Size

Drawing RevStage

N

Rev Date Details

Check

Status

4176 3 215 S PLANNING

1:100 A0 P

345 Bath Road
Brislington, Bristol

Floor Plans
5: Fifth Floor

EF MB 23.06.2021
Page 88


	Agenda
	1 Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information
	Planning Committee Diagram v0.6 (PDF)

	4 Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 22nd September 2021
	5 Action Sheet
	6 Appeals
	7 Enforcement
	9 Planning and Development
	9a Planning Application Number 19/03940/F - 345 Bath Road
	RELEVANT HISTORY
	RELEVANT POLICIES
	KEY ISSUES
	RECOMMENDED GRANT subject to Planning Agreement
	Supporting Documents


